Mgcbanks

Sipai Health Technology Co., Lid.
BRERREZBRLE

(A company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(REEHEZMA LA ERAE)
Stock code B 3155 : 0314

EL D PRER

®
Make Life Healthier \

"|
- Annual Report F #




Corporate Information

Financial Summary

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis
Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
Report of Directors

Corporate Governance Report

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to Financial Statements

Definitions

RAEH
B2
FEHE
ERE TR

EXLEAEERE

VY ETE o

A EaEMEmEaER

BHETIAE
BHHEREBR
AR RER
B SR
B

CONTENT
B &

25
31
75
95
151

159

161
163
165
168

283

BRRENEERAT —B-—258 1



CORPORATE INFORMATION
AEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. LI Ji

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAO Leiwen
Mr. ZHANG Ziquan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHANG Stanley Vi (3R, alias 5k 22 &F)

Mr. HE Haijian
Ms. HUANG Bei

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

Mr. HE Haijian (Chairman)
Mr. LI Ji
Ms. HUANG Bei

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairman)
Mr. HE Haijian
Mr. CHANG Stanley Vi (3R, alias 5k 2 &F)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. CHANG Stanley Vi (3R, alias 5k 2 &F ) (Chairman)

Mr. HE Haijian
Ms. HUANG Bei

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairrman)
Mr. LI Ji

Mr. YAO Leiwen

Mr. ZHANG Ziguan

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. REN Na

Ms. LI Ching Yi (apopointed on March 13, 2023)
Ms. TSANG Wing Man (resigned on March 13, 2023)

2 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022

EExg
HITES

SREXRE (EF2LE)
FHTE

FHITES

ML
SREERE

BYFHTES

CHANG Stanley Yi (3R} » Bl & R 28T ) L4
BE3 A
BELLT

FHRFAEEES

g E (/E)
FHERE
mERL

REEES

BSREXRE (FE)
gL E
CHANG Stanley Yi (3R » Bl & 3R 228} ) S 4

BREES

CHANG Stanley Vi (3Rl » 5l f 3R 228F) So &
(£/E)

AgREEE

EELL

BMEES

SRExE (2E)
FHETE
ML
REERE

BE DA RIWE
i+

TENG T (RO023E3H13HEZF)
@ BT 7+ (KRO0234E3 13 H BF(F)



AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. LI Ji
Ms. LI Ching Yi (appointed on March 13, 2023)
Ms. TSANG Wing Man (resigned on March 13, 2023)

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Alliance Capital Partners Limited
Unit 03, 7/F

World Wide House

19 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS
As to Hong Kong and U.S. laws

O’Melveny & Myers

31/F, AlA Central

1 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

As to PRC law

Jingtian & Gongcheng

34/F, Tower 3, China Central Place
77 Jianguo Road

Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

As to Cayman Islands law

Campbells

1301, 13/F

York House, The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Fublic Interest Entity Audiitors
27/F One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

0314

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEH

REAR

ZENL T (Ro023F3F13H EZF)
@ BT 7+ (2023435135 BFHF)

SRR

AABEERAT
BB

=EE 195
IRERAE
7TIE03E

SRR
FREEREEEE

BT RMERAT
BB

FHEEFE
EHEHPL31E

BRARBEER

R DTAERDE

F

b m G E
EBRET7ER

EZ L3R E FIE4E

RHRRASHSEE

Campbells

BB
ERREF155%
BEMESNORKE
13121301%

B

T TR BT
HEDIED
SRR T s B RE 12 B0AT
BB

il p=cRres

HEEI79%
Ky — 27

IR A L8R

0314

BIREREBZERAT —Z-_FFH



CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEER

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank, Jing’an Branch
No. 88, Shimen 2nd Road

Jing’an District

Shanghai

PRC

China Merchants Bank, Tiyu East Road Sub-branch
1/F, Goldlion Building

No. 138, Tiyu East Road

Guangzhou, Guangdong Province

PRC

China Merchants Bank, Offshore Banking Center

FEERRIT

EARRBERRITHLXT

]
FiEm
A PIZEk8ssk

RERITEAERE T
e

BREEMT

BE 5 R PK1385%
SFIRREEE

HERITRER S AP O

23/F, China Merchants Bank Shenzhen Branch Building =8}

No. 2016 Shennan Boulevard ERAFIm

Futian District &A@

Shenzhen, Guangdong Province REA R B20165%

PRC BERITRIND T RE23E
REGISTERED OFFICE afiEE

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-9010
Cayman Islands

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Units 11-13
26/F, Tower A
Guanzhou Biosciences Innovation Center

Grand Cayman KY1-9010
Cayman Islands

DA RER

R
FERAE BN
BEMNBEREYS

No. 51, Luoxuan Avenue 12 hE KiB5157%
Guangzhou International Bio Island BMEREIZRIF PO
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province AYEO6IE

PRC 11-13%

Block 17, Xingiwang Building =8

No. 1, Dongdadi Street il

Dongcheng District R &R

Beijing B ET15R

PRC ECHEFRBITHRE
7/F, Building 3 i

Xingguangyao Plaza EamEfeE

No. 1888, Caoyang Road 5518887

Putuo District, Shanghai ENRBES

PRC 3RETIE

4 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022



PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

14/F, Golden Centre
188 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square
Grand Cayman, KY1-9010

Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.medbankshealthtech.com

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEH

BREIEERMA
&

= EE 18857
EEEP 1412

KRB FETRERE
Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-9010
Cayman Islands

BREBRODBFERLTE
SEBFETERAT

&%

B 163
EESBTOI7IE

ANCIE N

www.medbankshealthtech.com

BREBENEEMAT —F-=FFH 5



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M # =

For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 20204F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTRT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Revenue WA 4,119,478 3,473,930 2,699,647 1,039,011
Gross profit EF 337,352 283,449 186,860 81,804
Loss for the year FRERE (1,371,764)  (3,748,503)  (1,042,029) (596,071)
Loss for the year attributable NCIEZZ =N
to owners of the parent FE(LF A EHE (1,370,572) (3,740,455)  (1,042,781) (594,595)
Adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) 4 AL 78 % 518
for the year (FEEIBR BT 75 3R 5
HBIFtE) (258,682) (365,084) (258,563) (254,241)
As of December 31,
HZE12H31H
2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 20204F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTIT AREBTT
Total assets BmEE 2,929,554 2,892,819 2,478,598 1,151,106
Total liabilities mefE 1,095,422 8,323,729 4,270,245 2,158,043
Equity attributable to owners of AR AI#EA A
the Company JE (LA 2 1,836,901  (5,429,224) (1,796,652)  (1,010,590)
Total equity/(deficits) Wz (EAL) 4258 1,834,132  (5,430,910) (1,791,647)  (1,006,937)
Note: B 5

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

on December 23, 2022.
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Dear Shareholders,

The year 2022 witnessed various challenges as the Omicron variant of
COVID-19 disturbed medical activities across the nation. Despite the
challenges, we achieved results to the management’s satisfaction by
adhering to our strategy of organic growth. The successful Listing of
the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on December
23, 2022 represents a new journey of the Company to enter into the
international capital market and will help the Company grow at a more
steady pace going forward.

Looking back, the Company was developed in the context of the
national healthcare reform. Since the launch of the new round of
healthcare reform in 2009, China has continued to deepen the
reform of the medical care and public health system with a focus on
solving the outstanding contradictions of unbalanced and inadequate
development among parties from the payer side, supply side, and
demand side involved in healthcare services. The development and
growth of the Company would not be possible without the progress of
the society, needs of the people and guidance of national policies. As
the Company treating the core concern for the demand of healthcare
services as its original aspiration and starting point, the Company was
able to, in the past several years, keep abreast of the healthcare reform
and keenly seize opportunities arising from the reform of medication
R&D, distribution and services, as well as the reform of medical care
payment, making it possible for the Company to start every new
business growth curve at right timing and establish a flourishing
healthcare-insurance-medication ecosystem.

The reform of the healthcare payment system is particularly critical. The
payers serve as an important hub between the demand side and the
supply side of healthcare services and play a fundamental adjustment
role. It is essential for the payers to build and improve a multi-level
health security system. Since its establishment, the National Healthcare
Security Administration (NHSA) has provided “broad coverage
and basic protection” for 1.34 billion insured persons through the
payment mechanism (payment reform), price mechanism, negotiation
mechanism (centralized large-volume procurement) and supervision
mechanism. Meanwhile, along with better economic development,
more social wealth, longer life expectancy and changing health risk
factors such as the disease spectrum change, the public demand
for healthcare services and its diversity continue to increase, and the
requirements for quality of healthcare services keep enhancing, thus
bringing the expenditures on healthcare services up. The self-paid
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEW|E

portion in the Basic Medical Insurance (BMI) and costs of healthcare
services beyond the BMI coverage are mostly out-of-pocket cash
borne by the general public. In accordance with the law of social
development and the history of global development, the out-of-pocket
payment beyond the basic healthcare coverage will be replaced by
commercial healthcare insurance gradually. Due to growing demand for
high-quality healthcare services, the commercial healthcare insurance
will grow significantly, return to the essence of medical and health
management, and contribute to the “multi-level and sustainable” social
health security.

In respect to such context and trends, the Company will be fully
committed to acquiring more members. Thanks to its specialty
pharmacy business and physician research assistance business,
through scientific planning and careful management of members’
premiums and medical expenses, the Company can provide members
with higher-quality and more choices of products, thus lowering
out-of-pocket medical costs and improving members’ health conditions
and healthcare service experience at the same time. Our journey will
ultimately lead us to creating an integrated health management network
that will provide quality and accessible care to the public.

We believe that by providing clear value, services and connection with
stakeholders in China’s healthcare system, we can establish in-depth
trusting ties that may impact the entire industry landscape. Support
from various walks of life is essential for our way forward. We would like
to express our sincere gratitude to all our shareholders, colleagues and
partners for their contribution and help!

Mr. MA Xuguang
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 15, 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

BUSINESS OVERVIEW EBHME
Overview BE

We connect and deliver clear values to patients, doctors, medical — FAFI#E3& KA BT & R EBIE I ER) &2 & st
institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers across China’s 71" B EEEEFERGNEE B4 BE
healthcare system through our robust technology platform and  ##&  ®BE R T M A BB WA KRS
data-enabled operational capabilities. We currently run three business EB/REAFEREE - T ffI B BT L IR KR
lines, including specialty pharmacy business (the “Specialty Pharmacy B EFEHEFES ([BHEEEK|) B4
Business”), physician research assistance (the “Physician Research #5017 8h ([B M %8 | ) & 62 R K R 75
Assistance’), and health insurance services (the “Health Insurance ([@ERERIE])

Services”).

Partnership with Pharmaceutical Innovators
BRI E S

NE : : e00
0o 48n
‘n (L) U
No. 1 SMO in oncology, © 280+ Pharmaceutical and Biotech : 100% retention rate for
assisting 1,000+ : Clients cover all Top 10 public Top 10 SMO clients
clinical trials . pharmaceutical companies in China : (measured by revenue)
BRESMO %5618 - 280+ 2 RER A MR EF AT+ ASMOEF
#%811,000+ § 2EREFEH : (R E)

EERR AR ATOKR L FREAF B17%£E100%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR DN

Partnership with Physician Network
HEAPERAE

55,000+ doctors Across
1,200+ Class Il Grade A
Hospitals nationwide

Loo]

100% coverage of 27 provincial
specialized oncology hospitals and :
5 national cancer treatment centers :

100% BE27rRE & 55,000+ = 2
JERRE R B & BB

S B 2R AR AR R R O

1,200+ 5 = F 56z

Partnership with Insurance Carriers
BRI ARG 1E

24

~12.5 MM 400K+
Annual Hui Min Insurance Annual Enterprise Health Plan
Sold in 2022 Sold in 2022
2022 2 FEH 2022F 2 FEH
~1258 B4 40E 17 +
BERR hEERELE

Note: Al statistics are as of December 31, 2022 Kist:
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We successfully listed our Shares on the main board of the Stock
Exchange on December 23, 2022. The Prospectus in relation to the
Global Offering was published on the website of the Stock Exchange
on December 12, 2022.

Our Services

Specialty Pharmacy Business

Our Specialty Pharmacy Business line consists of specialty pharmacy
and value-add professional pharmacist service, focusing on specialty
medicines for the treatment of oncology and other critical diseases.
Patients can access innovative medications from us and receive
pharmacist services, such as medication guidance, AE consultation,
and medication delivery. We also built up the first and only nationwide
specialty medicine management platform, providing follow-up
assessment service under a unified system, differentiating us from our
peers.

As of December 31, 2022, we operated 96 specialty pharmacies
across all provincial administrative regions in mainland China except
Xizang and Qinghai. Our pharmacies specialize in prescription
medicines for cancer and other critical diseases. We provide a wide
selection of specialty medicines, including innovative drugs newly
introduced to the market. Our professional pharmacist services ensure
patients to have better medication adherence and treatment efficacy.
Collaborating with the payer side, our specialty pharmacies also provide
direct billing with social medical insurance (B %X & &) and major
insurance carriers, offering additional payment solutions to patients.

Physician Research Assistance

In our Physician Research Assistance business line, we engage in
SMO business to support pharmaceutical companies in their drug
R&D process from phase | to phase IV clinical trials. Currently, the
SMO business contributes the majority of the Physician Research
Assistance revenue. Our in-depth experience and professional
expertise in assisting clinical trials for oncology drugs differentiate
us from our peers. Notably, we have achieved 100% coverage of
27 provincial specialized oncology hospitals and five national cancer
treatment centers. As of December 31, 2022, we had completed 468
SMO projects, and 795 SMO projects were ongoing. We proudly serve
all top ten public pharmaceutical companies in China that engage in
R&D of innovative drugs. During the Reporting Period, we achieved a
100% client retention rate with respect to our top ten SMO clients, as
measured by revenue during the same period of time. Over 95% of our
SMO clients engage in R&D of oncology drugs and typically contract
our services for three to five years.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Health Insurance Services

As of December 31, 2022, our health service provider network
connected over 1,200 Class lll Grade A hospitals, 55,000 doctors,
and 500 physical examination institutions in over 150 major cities
across China. Our robust health service provider network, together
with our Specialty Pharmacy Business, provides our members with
high quality health management services such as preventive care,
GP service, specialist referral, online hospital and overseas healthcare
network. Leveraging our data insights and actuarial capabilities, we
have co-developed differentiated health insurance plans with major
insurance carriers. Hui Min Insurance serves as a supplement to the
national basic medical insurance, offering additional coverage for
critical diseases, medical services, and specialty medicines at a price
affordable to the general population. In addition, Enterprise Health
Plans provide a more comprehensive and advanced protection to
employers and their employees, offering flexible quality health and
disease management services.

Business Highlights

Resilience, Growth and Efficiency Tested in Pandemic

2022 is a challenging year given the fact that hard-to-contained
Omicron variant of COVID-19 strongly disturbed the medical activities
across the nation. Consequently, clinical trials for innovative therapies
and demands for treatment were generally affected. At the same time,
as the social business activities were negatively impacted by COVID-19
pandemic, more companies and individuals sized down their expenses
and budgets.

Despite challenges in healthcare system, we had achieved what
the management regarded as satisfying performance results. We
have maintained our strategy of organic growth, which is the key to
nationwide quality control in offering standardized professional services.
We are also very pleased to see the continuing growth momentum
under our disciplined strategy throughout this turbulent year of
operations. We believe this is the validation of our strategy, growth
disciplines, revenue quality, and our execution capabilities accumulated
in the past several years of solid operations. As tested in the COVID-19
pandemic, the resilience of the business model, execution capabilities,
and adaptability, we believe, will carry the business forward in the
continuously evolving business dynamics in the holistic healthcare
industry. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by
segments and gross margin of our total revenues during the Reporting
Period:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DT

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE

2022 2021 Year-on-year

20224 20214 Change

Revenue LON RMB’000 RMB’000 @) b & &)

AR¥F ARBFIT %

Specialty Pharmacy Business RF LR B S 3,661,809 3,136,484 16.7
Physician Research Assistance BEEMRHIES

Business 319,449 244 857 30.5

Health Insurance Services Business i B 1R 6 iR 8 %75 138,220 92,589 49.3

Total HE 4,119,478 3,473,930 18.6

2022 2021

20224 20214

Gross Margin EF=E % %

Specialty Pharmacy Business FEEE R 5.0 5.9

Physician Research Assistance Business EAEMRBIED 20.7 18.3

Health Insurance Services Business 2R REBR R ER 63.5 57.4

Total et 8.2 8.2

Equally importantly, we would like to highlight our attention paid to
the operational efficiency, both on the organization side and working
capital side. Low tide period represents a rare opportunity to stress
test the management’s competence in organizational adaptability and
awareness-to-action responsiveness. We achieved the business growth
mentioned above not only in a year of external disturbance, but also in
one year of internal efficiency improvement. We managed to achieve
functional upgrade in the meanwhile of efficiency streamlining, laying
a solid foundation for future sustainable growth prospects. Size of the
work force was optimized from 3,859 as of December 31, 2021 to
3,210 as of December 31, 2022.

At the same time, the working capital change in a challenging business
year further demonstrates our business quality.

In 2022, approximately RMB222 million was released from changes
in working capital management (excluding the change in pledged
deposits and time deposit) primarily due to the improvement in
inventory management and improvement in prepayment management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

R&D and Technology

Technology and R&D capabilities are core to our business. We have
developed our technology and digital infrastructure to enhance
our operations and services. Utilizing our expertise and statistics
accumulated from our day-to-day operations, our technology and digital
infrastructure well support our Specialty Pharmacy Business, Physician
Research Assistance and Health Insurance Services operations and
connect the dots among the business segments to provide a holistic
insights into the dynamics in healthcare industry across products,
providers and payers.

We invest substantial time, attention, and resources to improve our
technology and digital infrastructure, strengthen our data processing
and analytic capabilities, develop new solutions that are complementary
to existing ones and find ways to better serve our members, patients,
doctors, pharmaceutical companies, and insurance carriers. Our R&D
personnel primarily consist of data engineers, data scientists, software
engineers, technology infrastructure architects, health management
specialists and actuaries.

Business Development and Marketing

We design our business development and marketing strategy to
expand our brand recognition, build strong customer loyalty and
develop incremental revenue opportunities. Led by our management,
we are dedicated to the maintenance and management of cooperation
with medical institutions, doctors and pharmaceutical companies.

At the same time, we regularly conduct marketing, promotional and
educational activities addressing all participants in the healthcare
and insurance industry, including medical institutions, pharmaceutical
companies, insurance carriers, enterprise clients, doctors and plan
members, to increase our exposure and demonstrate the quality
and differentiating value propositions of our services. Leveraging
our cooperation with various local governments and leading health
insurance carriers, we advertise our health insurance plans and health
management services underlying these plans offered by our Health
Insurance Services through online and offline channels and have
attracted significant customer attention, especially when we launch our
insurance plans into new cities.

Moreover, as our three business lines, Specialty Pharmacy Business,
Physician Research Assistance and Health Insurance Services reinforce
each other and form a virtuous cycle and symbiotic ecosystem,
business opportunities and customer traffic can be directed from
one business line to another. As we empower doctors in their patient
management and scientific research through our Specialty Pharmacy
Business and Physician Research Assistance, it is expected that
referrals from doctors will contribute to the expansion of our Specialty
Pharmacy Business and Health Insurance Services customer base.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this annual results announcement.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, our revenue was primarily generated from
our Specialty Pharmacy Business, Physician Research Assistance and
Health Insurance Services. The following table sets forth a breakdown
of our revenue by segments and year over year growth:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWE DT
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BE
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SO EER LM R —Of B
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%ﬁ&iﬁﬂm BB AETEREFEERE

7% BETR B MEERRIRTS - FRE
S AZ > B & 5 A K2 R LE 38 R B AR

Year-on-year Year-on-year

2022 2021 Change Change
2022%F 20214 [R] £t il
Revenue A RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %
ARET T ARBFTT ARBTT

Specialty Pharmacy Business 3 %% %% f= Z£ 7% 3,661,809 3,136,484 525,325 16.7
Physician Research BEMEBEES

Assistance Business 319,449 244,857 74,592 30.5
Health Insurance Services i B R B2 AR 75 22 75

Business 138,220 92,589 45,631 49.3
Total Eet 4,119,478 3,473,930 645,548 18.6
Specialty Pharmacy Business W o 74 B2 2 S
Revenue from our Specialty Pharmacy Business increased by 45 &% E £ A0 WA H2021ER 4 AR

approximately 16.7% from approximately RMB3,136.5 million in 2021
to approximately RMB3,661.8 million in 2022, which was mainly
attributable to the expansion of our pharmacy storefronts from 91 as
of December 31, 2021 to 96 as of December 31, 2022, and growing
market demand.

Physician Research Assistance

Revenue from our Physician Research Assistance business increased
by approximately 30.5% from approximately RMB244.9 million in 2021
to approximately RMB319.4 million in 2022.

Health Insurance Services

Revenue from Health Insurance Services business increased by
approximately 49.3% from approximately RMB92.6 million in 2021 to
approximately RMB138.2 million in 2022, which mainly attributable to
the further business development on enterprise clients and launching
more Hui Min Insurance plans in different cities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Cost of Sales SHE R A

Year-on-year Year-on-year

2022 2021 Change Change

20224 20214 &) bb 2 [ tb Z &

Cost of sales SHERA RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 %

AR®T T ARBTT ARETF T

Specialty Pharmacy Business 4 %% %4 5 2 1% 3,478,464 2,951,040 527,424 17.9
Physician Research BEMRBIES

Assistance Business 253,211 199,998 8,218 26.6
Health Insurance Services 2 FIRBR RIS T

Business 50,451 39,443 11,008 27.9

Total Bt 3,782,126 3,190,481 591,645 18.5

Our cost of sales increased by approximately 18.5% from
approximately RMB3,190.5 million in 2021 to approximately
RMB3,782.1 million in 2022, primarily due to (i) an increase of
approximately RMB527.4 million in procurement cost for medicines
relating to our Specialty Pharmacy Business; and (i) an increase of
approximately RMB53.2 million in labor costs relating to Physician
Research Assistance business.

T AFI B9 $ 65 AKX N 1202168 B 49 A R #53,190.5
BE T INH18.5% T2022F M4 AR #&
37821BEB L NEEHN() BT HEREHE
HH BRI EY R R AL N A R #5274
BB L) BEERERESEENS
TRAEMHARKES2EE T

Gross Profit and Gross Margin ER R EF =R
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Gross Profit and Gross Gross Profit Gross Margin Gross Profit ~ Gross Margin
Margin ERRERE I EH% £ e ES
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR®TR ARBTT
Specialty Pharmacy Business 5 %% 5% 5 % 75 183,345 5.0 185,444 5.9
Physician Research BRI ER
Assistance Business 66,238 20.7 44,859 18.3
Health Insurance Services 2 BE (R Pt AR 75 3£ 75
Business 87,769 63.5 53,146 57.4
Total st 337,352 8.2 283,449 8.2

Our gross profit in 2021 and 2022 were approximately RMB283.4
million and approximately RMB337.4 million, respectively, and our
gross margin remained relatively stable at approximately 8.2% in 2021
and 2022. The gross margin of our Specialty Pharmacy Business has
slightly decreased in 2022, mainly because of the change of product
structure, the decrease has been partially offset by the increase gross
margin of Health Insurance Services.
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Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains consist primarily of government grants, bank
interest income, foreign exchange differences, gains on financial assets
at FVTPL.

Our other income and gains increased by approximately 17.8% from
approximately RMB51.1 million in 2021 to approximately RMB60.2
million in 2022, primarily due to () an approximately RMB6.8 million
increase in the bank interest income; and (i) an approximately RMB11.0
million increase in the government grants.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of staff costs,
marketing and promotion fees, depreciation and amortization expenses,
travel and business related expense and others.

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately
14.2% from approximately RMB291.5 million in 2021 to approximately
RMB332.9 million in 2022, mainly due to an approximately RMB61.4
million increase in staff costs mainly for our Specialty Pharmacy
Business; partially offset by an approximately RMB19.5 million decrease
in marketing and promotion fees as a result of our improved sales
efficiency.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses consist primarily of staff costs, consulting
and service fees, travel and business related expense, depreciation and
amortization expenses, listing expense and others.

Our administrative expenses decreased by approximately 14.2% from
approximately RMB670.0 million in 2021 to approximately RMB575.0
million in 2022, mainly resulting from a decrease in the staff costs,
which is primarily due to the functional adjustment of the administrative
team and the improvement of administrative efficiency.

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of staff
costs and outsourcing cost and others. Our research and development
expenses increased by approximately 5.9% from approximately
RMB59.2 miillion in 2021 to approximately RMB62.7 million in 2022,
mainly due to an increase in staff costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Change in fair value of convertible redeemable
preferred shares

Our fair value loss on convertible redeemable preferred shares
decreased by approximately 74.6% from approximately RMB3,048.4
million in 2021 to approximately RMB775.3 million in 2022, reflecting
our more stable valuation status since 2022 and the increase of the
Company’s valuation upon its completion of the Global Offering on
December 23, 2022. These preferred Shares were automatically
converted to Ordinary Shares of the Company on a 1:1 basis on the
same day. Thus the fair value of convertible redeemable preferred
shares had been reclassified to equity accordingly in December 2022.

Income Tax

Our income tax expense increased by approximately 312.5% from
approximately RMBO0.8 million in 2021 to approximately RMB3.3 million
in 2022.

Non-IFRS Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are
presented in accordance with IFRSs, we also use adjusted loss (non-
IFRS measure) as an additional financial measure, which is not required
by, or presented in accordance with, IFRSs. We believe adjusted loss
(non-IFRS measure) facilitates comparisons of company to company by
eliminating potential impacts of items.

We believe adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) provides useful
information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
combined results of operations in the same manner as adjusted loss
(non-IFRS measure) help our management. However, our presentation
of adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures presented by other companies. The use of
adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) has limitations as an analytical tool,
and you should not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute
for an analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as
reported under IFRSs.

We define adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) as profit/(loss) for the year,
excluding () fair value changes of convertible redeemable preferred
shares; (i) share-based payment compensation; (i) listing expenses;
and (iv) transaction cost for the issue of convertible redeemable
preferred shares.

The convertible preferred shares have been converted into Ordinary
Shares of the Company on a 1:1 basis after the completion of the
Global Offering, and no further loss or gain on fair value changes is
expected to be recognized afterwards.
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The following table reconciles our adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) for
the years presented to the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated and presented in accordance with IFRSs, which is loss for
the years indicated:
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(BNFrRFREER) EITHRR:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
Reconciliation of loss to adjusted loss EEHELAEEE (FEIFRYSE
(non-IFRS measure): WMEERFE) WEHER:
Loss for the year FRNEE (1,371,764) (3,748,503
Add: -
Fair value loss on convertible redeemable 7] & i 7] £ [0 {8 5t AR B9 A A
preferred shares 518 775,260 3,048,428
Share-based payment compensation LARR 17 5 B0 =2 < 0 357 B 315,852 298,682
Listing expense EHAX 21,970 28,783
Transaction cost for the issue of the BITARRR] AT SR A EE
Company’s convertible redeemable BEREIZZHKA
preferred shares - 7,526
Adjusted loss (non-IFRS measure) for FRZFHREE (ERBRE
the year WEERFE) (258,682) (365,084)

Capital Management

During the Reporting Period, we primarily funded our working capital
requirements through capital contributions from our Shareholders
including net proceeds from the Global Offering. We monitor and
maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to
finance our operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Our net cash used in operating activities was approximately
RMB182.1 million in 2022.

Our Group manages our capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, our
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares.

Our Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2022, we recorded net current assets of
approximately RMB1,640.0 million. As at December 31, 2022, the
gearing ratio, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was
approximately 37.4%, as compared with approximately 287.7% as at
December 31, 2021.

As our business develops and expands, we expect to generate net
cash from our operating activities, through the sales revenue of our
future commercialized products. Going forward, we believe our liquidity
requirements will be satisfied by using funds from a combination of our
cash and cash equivalents and net proceeds from the Global Offering.
As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB1,455.5 million.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals

Disposal of Online Hospital Service

In order to improve our Group’s operational efficiency and focus on
our core businesses, we disposed our online hospital service operated
through Sipai Medical Hainan and its subsidiaries to the Excluded
Group on September 15, 2022 (the “Disposal’).

Before the Disposal, the online hospital service was part of our
value-added health management service underlying our health
insurance plans, and was provided to our members without additional
charges. We primarily provided health consultation, health management
and health education through our online hospital service. The online
hospital service accounted for a very insignificant portion of our Group
in terms of financial contribution, but we had spent disproportionate
time and resources to maintain its operation. We believe that the
Disposal would enable us to allocate the resources to our core
businesses more efficiently.

For details, please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganization
and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWE DT

Capital Expenditure BB

Our principal capital expenditures relate primarily to the purchase HFINETEEAEST T EHBE WA= HE -
of office equipment, softwares as well as leasehold improvements. &t A RIS EEE G X5 B
The following table sets forth our capital expenditures for the periods RFrREIRIAE R

indicated.

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TR AR®ET T

Purchases of property, plant and equipment & & ¥ %  BE M & & 3,957 16,577
Purchases of other intangible assets BEHMEFREE 7,846 4,832
Total # 11,803 21,409

Currency Risk EXE s

During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly operated in China and RIEHARN AEEB T EETEKLEBKH
a majority of its transactions were settled in Renminbi, the functional H XIEH X ZUKRATEEH B AT EE
currency of the Company’s primary subsidiaries. The Group is exposed B AR &EE - KE ETHRS MIETT
to foreign currency risk as a result of certain cash and bank balances 45 #4 LA 3ETh 88 & B 58 M m Fa SNE LB ©
denominated in non-functional currency. We currently do not have a /98 Bl fEAMNE ¥R IR o« AT BRPINE IR
foreign currency hedging policy. However, our management monitors & B5 #52 SN FE [& [ 17 48 0 B 55 B B & & ¥ )
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign 8 K4MNEE [ ©

currency exposure should the need arise.

Pledge of Assets BEEEKH

As at December 31, 2022, the pledged deposits pledged by the Group ~ 7202212 8310 AN EE G E A EE T L
for letters of credit amounted to approximately RMB76.2 million (2021: B EFERL A ARET76.28 & T (20214 :

nil). ) o

Contingent Liabilities HAREE

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 20229 12A31H NEFEWEE AHAE
2022. ER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As of December 31, 2022, we had 3,210 employees in total. Most of
them are stationed in China. We recruit our employees based on a
number of factors, including work experience, educational background
and the requirements of a relevant vacancy. We assess our employees
based on their performance to determine their salary, promotion and
career development.

We enter into standard employment agreements and confidentiality
agreements or clauses with all of our employees. We also enter into
non-compete agreements with our senior management and core
personnel. These agreements include a standard non-compete
covenant that prohibits such employee from competing with us, directly
or indirectly, during his or her employment and for a certain period after
termination of his or her employment. We maintain a good working
relationship with our employees, and we have not experienced any
material labor disputes.

We are committed to establishing a competitive and fair remuneration.
In order to effectively motivate our employees, we continually refine
our remuneration and incentive policies through market research. We
conduct performance evaluation for our employees at least once a
year to provide feedback on their performance. Compensation for our
employees typically consists of base salary and a performance-based
bonus.

Future Investment Plans and Expected Funding

As of December 31, 2022, we did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets.

OUTLOOK

We aspire to lead the digital transformation of China’s healthcare
industry. As our name “Medbanks” suggests, we started our journey
by building a robust “bank” of digital solutions and data insights, as
well as strong operational capabilities, to support more participants in
the healthcare ecosystem. Our journey will ultimately lead us to create
an integrated health management network that will bring quality and
accessible care to a large population.

We believe, by delivering clear values and serving and connecting the
stakeholders in China’s healthcare system, including patients, doctors,
medical institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers, we build
deep and trusting relationships that can be transformative to the
industry landscape.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Acquisition of Smart Pharmacy

On January 6, 2023, the Group entered into a share purchase
agreement with Sinopharm Group Hubei Co., Ltd ( B &5 f% 4L A
R /A a]) (“Sinopharm Group”) to acquire additional 45.00% equity
interests in Sinopharm Holdings Smart Pharmacy (Hubei) Co., Ltd. (E

T B REE (OBdE) BR A F) (“Smart Pharmacy”) for a
total cash consideration of RMB3,218,000 (the “Acquisition”). The
Acquisition was completed on January 6, 2023 when the Company
obtained control of the operating and financing activities of Smart
Pharmacy. Upon completion of the Acquisition, our Group holds 80.0%
of the equity interest in Smart Pharmacy and the remaining 20.0%
equity interest is held by an Independent Third Party.

Smart Pharmacy is primarily engaged in the retail of drugs and
pharmaceutical products in Hubei Province. Sinopharm Group, a
subsidiary of Sinopharm Group Co., Ltd. ( Bl %% i% i (7 A R A
7)) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1099),
is a state-owned enterprise primarily engaged in the distribution of
pharmaceutical products. The Acquisition is complementary to our
principal businesses and will enhance our presence in Hubei Province.
For details, please refer to the section headed “Waivers from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules and Exemptions From Strict
Compliance with The Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance” in the Prospectus.

Change of Joint Company Secretary, Authorized
Representative, Process Agent in Hong Kong and
Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

With effect from March 13, 2023:

()  due to commercial arrangement between the Company and
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“SWCS”),
Ms. TSANG Wing Man, as an employee of SWCS, has resigned
as the joint company secretary of the Company (the “Joint
Company Secretary”), and ceased to act as the authorized
representative of the Company as required under Rule 3.05 of
the Listing Rules (the “Authorized Representative”) and the
authorized representative of the Company for accepting on the
Company’s behalf service of process or notice to be served on
the Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Process Agent in Hong Kong’);
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWR DT

(i)  Ms. LI Ching Yi (“Ms. Li”) has been appointed as the Joint
Company Secretary, the Authorized Representative and the
Process Agent in Hong Kong, while Ms. REN Na (“Ms. Ren”)
will continue to act as the other Joint Company Secretary of the
Company; and

(i) the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong has
been changed to 14/F, Golden Centre, 188 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The Stock Exchange has granted a new waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the relevant requirements of Rules 3.28 and 8.17
of the Listing Rules for the remaining period of the waiver previously
granted from March 13, 2023 (i.e. date of the appointment of Ms. Li as
a Joint Company Secretary to December 22, 2025) in relation to the
eligibility of Ms. Ren to act as a Joint Company Secretary.

For details, please refer to the announcement dated March 13, 2023 of
the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant event that took

place after the Reporting Period which require additional disclosures or
adjustments.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. MA Xuguang (EBE) , aged 52, co-founded with Mr. Li Sipai
(Beijing) Network Technology Co., Ltd. ( Bk (1t ) MERI B AR
‘A7) (“Sipai Beijing Network”) in March 2014 and the Company in
May 2015, and has been the Director, Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer since then. Mr. Ma was re-designated as the
executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Ma has over 20 years’ sales & marketing and management
experience in healthcare industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma
served as a district sales manager of Schering-Plough Corporation,
currently a subsidiary of Merck & Co., Inc. (a company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange, stock code: MRK), from June 1997 to
October 2004. He then joined Schering AG (currently known as Bayer
HealthCare Pharmaceuticals Inc.), a subsidiary of Bayer AG (a company
listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock code: BAYN), as the
head of sales from August 2004 to September 2012. From January
2013 to March 2014, Mr. Ma served as the chief executive officer of
Guangjijunhe (Beijing) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. ([E#Z M (1L 5)
BEEMRERRAR) .

Mr. Ma obtained his bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine from Harbin
Medical University (5 #8 8&F}AZ2) in July 1994.

Mr. LI Ji (Z4£) , aged 45, co-founded with Mr. Ma Sipai Beijing
Network in March 2014 and the Company in May 2015. He has been
the Director since August 2015 and President since March 2020. Mr. Li
was re-designated as the executive Director in July 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as the district manager of
Schering-Plough (China) Co., Ltd. (5L E &M (R ) BRAA]) from
January 2002 to June 2008. Mr. Li served as a regional sales manager
of Bayer (China) Ltd., a subsidiary of Bayer AG (a company listed on
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock code: BAYN), from June 2008
to March 2010. Mr. Li re-joined Bayer (China) Ltd. and served as a
regional sales manager from February 2011 to December 2012. He
then joined Guangjijunhe (Beijing) Medical Technology Co., Ltd. ( & #
ER (b R) BERIE AR A7) as the general manager from January
2013 to March 2014.

Mr. Li graduated from the Shanxi Medical University ( [L 7828} A £2)
in July 2000, majoring in medical image. He then received his MBA
degree from the Beijing Jiaotong University (1t 328K ) in January
2011.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YAO Leiwen (ZkZEX) , aged 41, joined the Group in October
2019 and has served as the Director since then. He was re-designated
as a non-executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Yao was an associate at Deutsche Bank from February 2005 to
August 2008 and an investment director at Shenzhen Mindray Bio-
Medical Electronics Co., Ltd. from October 2010 to June 2011. Mr. Yao
has been the non-executive director of Kingsoft Corporation Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
3888) since August 2022. He has served as a Vice General Manager of
Tencent Investment Department of Tencent since June 2011.

Mr. Yao received his bachelor’'s degree in Economic Information
Management (4% {z B8 1) and master’s degree in finance from
University of International Business and Economics ( ¥f 4 48 75 &
5 RKE)in July 2002 and July 2005, respectively. He obtained his
master’s degree in Business Administration from Institut Européen
D’administration des Affaires (INSEAD) in France in 2010.

Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (R B#) , aged 41, joined the Group in
December 2020 and has served as the Director since then. He was
re-designated as a non-executive Director in July 2021.

Mr. Zhang has served as a responsible officer of Jeneration Capital
Advisors (Hong Kong) Limited since March 2018. Before that,
Mr. Zhang worked with Coatue Management as a managing director
from September 2014 to January 2017 and worked as an investment
professional at DCM, a global venture capital fund, from July 2009 to
August 2014. Mr. Zhang has obtained extensive experience in business
management, financial management and investment in his past
experience which is of help to the business development and corporate
governance of our Group.

Mr. Zhang obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting from Peking

University (36 5= KX E) in July 2003, and received his MBA degree from
Harvard University in June 2009.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (3R, alias R E &), aged 64, was
appointed as the independent non-executive Director on July 30, 2021
(effective from the Listing Date).

Mr. Chang is currently a standing council member of China Institute
of Internal Audit, and a member of Auditing Expert Panel of Asian
Development Bank. Mr. Chang has been an independent non-executive
director of Nongfu Spring Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9633) since March 2020.
Mr. Chang also has been an independent director and chairman of
audit committee of Cowealth Medical China Co., Ltd. (A & (
B)EBERERMBER AT (@ company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, stock code: 603122) since April 2019. Mr. Chang
has been a professor at Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance of
Shanghai Jiaotong University since July 2018. He was a professor at
National Taiwan University from August 2016 to June 2018. Prior to
that, Mr. Chang successively served as the chief operating officer of
MarcumBP where he also led its China advisory services; managing
partner of China advisory services and global business risk services
leader for Grant Thornton; and partner of business risk services and
Asia Pacific life sciences leader for Ernst & Young from September
2007 to October 2016.

Mr. Chang received his bachelor's degree in business administration
from National Taiwan University in June 1980; his master’s degree in
accounting from University of Missouri-Columbia in the United States
in August 1983; and his PhD from Texas Tech University in the United
States in August 1987. Mr. Chang is a Certified Public Accountant of
Texas, United States.

Mr. HE Haijian (fJ/&#), aged 41, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on July 30, 2021 (effective from
the Listing Date).

Mr. He has been the chief financial officer and executive director of
Kingsoft Cloud Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Nasdaq,
stock code: KC and listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 3896) since January 2020 and December 2022
respectively. Mr. He served as an executive director in the corporate
finance department at Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC from September
2015 to January 2020. Mr. He was an associate at Bank of America
Merrill Lynch from May 2014 to September 2015, and a vice president
at Citigroup Global Markets Inc. from October 2010 to May 20183.

Mr. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in information system from
Southeast University (B & A£) in June 2003, a master’'s degree
in electromagnetic field and microwave technology from Southeast
University in April 2006, and received an MBA from University of
Chicago in March 2014. Mr. He is also a CFA charter holder.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEAEREE

Ms. HUANG Bei (Z7%£) , aged 45, was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director on July 30, 2021 (effective from the Listing
Date).

Ms. Huang served as a vice president of Fidelity Ventures in Shanghai
office from November 2011 to February 2015. She has served as the
president of Bonre Orthopedics Hospital Group Co., Ltd. ( 738 & 7} 8
P& E AR5 B BR A 7)) since March 2015.

Ms. Huang received her bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering from
Zhejiang University in June 2000, her master’s degree in engineering
from University of Michigan-Ann Arbor in the United States in
December 2004, and her MBA degree from University of Pennsylvania
in the United States in June 2009.

Other Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules

Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors confirms with respect
to himself or herself, to the best of his or her knowledge, information
and belief, that as of the date of this annual report, (1) he or she
did not hold other long positions or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares, debentures of our Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO); (2) he or she
had no other relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholders of our Company; (3) he or she did not hold
any other directorships in the last three years in any public companies
whose securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
and/or overseas; and (4) there were no other matters concerning his
or her appointment that need to be brought to the attention of our
Shareholders and the Stock Exchange or shall be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules.

Each of our Director confirms that he or she does not have any
interest in a business, apart from the business of our Company,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our
business, and requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHOU Teng (B B§) , aged 36, has been the Chief Strategy
Officer since January 2019. Mr. Zhou is responsible for formalizing,
implementing, overseeing the overall strategic planning and finance and
investment functions of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou served as a consultant of Roland
Berger Strategy Consultants from 2008 to 2010. From 2010 to 2011,
he served as a senior consultant of International Business Machines
Corporation. Mr. Zhou joined Bayer Healthcare Co., Ltd., a subsidiary
of Bayer AG (a company listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, stock
code: BAYN), as a strategy manager from 2011 to 2012. He then
served as a vice president of Eight Roads Capital (previously known as
Fidelity Growth Partners Asia) from September 2014 to January 2019.

Mr. Zhou obtained his bachelor’s degree in biotechnology (4 #7 %
fir) from Peking University (3t K88 ) in July 2008 and received an
MBA from Columbia University in the City of New York in May 2014.
Mr. Zhou was awarded a gold medal in 15th International Biology
Olympiad in 2004.

Mr. LI Qi’ang (ZB 5), aged 40, has been the Chief Operating
Officer since April 2019. Mr. Li is responsible for overseeing the
day-to-day administrative and operation of our Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as the vice-general manager of
health insurance business unit at Guahao.com (Hangzhou) Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. (#5548 (F10) BHEBR A7), a subsidiary of
We Doctor Holdings Limited from November 2014 to February 2016.
Mr. Li joined Baidu Online Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B
EEGAEENT (ER)BRAA), a subsidiary of Baidu Inc. (a
company listed on the Nasdaq, stock code: BIDU)) from February
2016 to March 2017 with his last position as senior product designer
of medical business unit. He then joined Beijing Harmony Tianming
Investment Center (Limited Partnership) (Fl:& X8I E &2 (b R)
AMRRAF]), an investment vehicle of IDG Capital, from March 2017
to January 2018 as an investment manager. From February 2018 to
March 2019, Mr. Li served as an investment vice-president at Legend
Star Capital (B8 2 £) .

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’s degree in biological sciences from
Tsinghua University (j&ZE X2 ) in July 2004. He received his doctoral
degrees in chemical biology and chemistry from Max Planck Institute of
Molecular Physiology and Technical University of Dortmund in Germany,
respectively, in September 2011.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. REN Na ({E#8) , aged 45, was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company in July 2021. Ms. Ren joined in
the Group in July 2020 and has served as the general counsel since
then.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Ren worked in the legal department of
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd. (fi/NF 2B EERAF]), a subsidiary
of CPMC Holdings Limited (@ company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0906)) from May 2010 to October
2011. From November 2011 to November 2014, Ms. Ren served as
the group legal manager of PAIG (China) Automobile Investment Co.,
Ltd. (BEHE (FE) AEKREBRAF) . She then served as a legal
specialist of ZhongAn Online P & C Insurance Co., Ltd. (R &Z 75
ERBIRMABRAT), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6060), from March 2017 to July 2020.

Ms. Ren obtained her bachelor’s degree in international economic law
from East China University of Political Science and Law ( R BUA A
2 in July 2000 and master’s degree in international and transnational
law from Chicago-Kent College of Law, lllinois Institute of Technology in
the United States in May 2016.

Ms. LI Ching Yi (Z&18) , has been appointed as the joint company
secretary of the Company on March 13, 2023. Ms. Li is a senior
manager of the Listing Corporate Services Department of Trident
Corporate Services (Asia) Ltd., a global professional services firm. She
has over 10 years of professional experience in company secretarial
field. She is currently the company secretary of Yadong Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1795), and a joint company secretary of Yidu Tech
Inc. (stock code: 2158), Pop Mart International Group Limited (stock
code: 9992), Acotec Scientific Holdings Limited (stock code: 6669)
and 3D Medicines Inc. (stock code: 1244), all of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

Ms. Li is an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries). She obtained a bachelor’s degree in social
sciences in October 2011 from Lingnan University in Hong Kong and a
master’s degree in professional accounting and corporate governance
in July 2015 from City University of Hong Kong.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group connects and delivers clear values to patients, doctors,
medical institutions, pharmaceutical companies and payers across
China’s healthcare system through its robust technology platform
and data-enabled operational capabilities. The Company currently
runs three business lines, including specialty pharmacy business (the
“Specialty Pharmacy Business”), physician research assistance (the
“Physician Research Assistance”), and health insurance services
(the “Health Insurance Services”).

Specialty Pharmacy Business

The Specialty Pharmacy Business line consists of specialty pharmacy
and value-add professional pharmacist service, focusing on specialty
medicines for the treatment of oncology and other critical diseases.
Patients can access innovative medications from the Company
and receive pharmacist services, such as medication guidance, AE
consultation, and medication delivery. The Company also built up the
first and only nationwide specialty medicine management platform,
providing follow-up assessment service under a unified system,
differentiating the Company from its peers.

Physician Research Assistance

In the Physician Research Assistance business line, the Company
engages in SMO business to support pharmaceutical companies
in their drug R&D process from phase | to phase IV clinical trials.
Currently, the SMO business contributes the majority of the Physician
Research Assistance revenue. Its in-depth experience and professional
expertise in assisting clinical trials for oncology drugs differentiate the
Company from its peers. Notably, the Company has achieved 100%
coverage of 27 provincial specialized oncology hospitals and five
national cancer treatment centers. The Company proudly serves all top
ten public pharmaceutical companies in China that engage in R&D of
innovative drugs. During the Reporting Period, the Company achieved
a 100% client retention rate with respect to its top ten SMO clients, as
measured by revenue during the same period of time. Over 95% of its
SMO clients engage in R&D of oncology drugs and typically contract its
services for three to five years.
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Health Insurance Services

The robust health service provider network of the Company, together
with the Specialty Pharmacy Business, provides its members with
high quality health management services such as preventive care,
GP service, specialist referral, online hospital and overseas healthcare
network. Leveraging its data insights and actuarial capabilities, the
Company has co-developed differentiated health insurance plans with
major insurance carriers. Hui Min Insurance serves as a supplement
to the national basic medical insurance, offering additional coverage
for critical diseases, medical services, and specialty medicines at
a price affordable to the general population. In addition, Enterprise
Health Plans provide a more comprehensive and advanced protection
to employers and their employees, offering flexible quality health and
disease management services.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the Reporting
Period is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 159 to 167 of
this annual report.

DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTION

During the year ended December 31, 2022, no dividends have been
paid or declared by the Company.

The Company intends to retain most, if not all, of the Company’s
available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and
growth of the Company’s business and has not yet adopted a dividend
policy to declare or pay any dividends in the near future.

The Board has discretion as to whether to distribute dividends, subject
to certain restrictions under Cayman Islands law and the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), namely
that the Company may only pay dividends either out of profits or share
premium account, and provided always that in no circumstances may
a dividend be paid if this would result in the Company being unable
to pay its debts at they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
In addition, our Shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare a
dividend, but no dividend may exceed the amount recommended by
our Board. Even if our Board decides to declare and pay dividends,
the timing, amount and form of future dividends, if any, will depend on,
among other things, our future results of operations and cash flow, our
capital requirements and surplus, the amount of distributions, if any,
received by us from our subsidiary, our financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our board of
directors.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended December 31, 2022.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Monday, June 26, 2023.
The notice of the AGM will be published and dispatched to the
Shareholders in due course in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
June 20, 2023 to Monday, June 26, 2023, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. The record
date for entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM is Monday, June
26, 2023. In order to be qualified to attend and vote at the AGM,
all completed transfers forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, June 19, 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year and the material factors underlying
its results and financial position as well as the outlook of the Group’s
business are provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 9 to 24 of this annual report. Description of the principal risks
and uncertainties faced the Group can be found throughout this annual
report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred after December 31, 2022, if any, can also be found in the
notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance by
reference to financial key performance indicators and environmental
policies, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group, are provided in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Each of
the above-mentioned relevant contents form an integral part of this
Report of the Directors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business of the Group involves certain risks as set out in the
section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus. The following list is a
summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group,
some of which are beyond its control.

° its ability to manage the growth of business and operations or
implement business strategies;

° its ability to properly manage, create values or maintain a
symbiotic ecosystem for various participants in the healthcare
industry, including patients, doctors, medical institutions,
pharmaceutical companies and payers;

o its ability to adopt new technologies or adapt our products or
services to changing customers’ requirements or emerging
industry standards, and our efforts to invest in the development of
new technologies may be unsuccessful or ineffective;

° its ability to maintain compliance with data protection and
privacy-related laws and regulations;

° its ability to obtain and maintain the requisite licenses, permits
and approvals applicable to its business;

° all material aspects of its research and development activities;
and

° risks relating to industry, business and operations.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors
before making any investment in the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of,
or non-compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has clearly defined the role of the Board in ESG governance
and strives to integrate the concept of sustainable development
with the overall corporate development strategy. It has established a
top-down ESG governance structure with clear responsibilities. The
Board is responsible for overseeing and reviewing the overall ESG
objectives, management strategies and management approaches,
including identifying, evaluating, prioritizing and managing material ESG-
related issues. The Group conducted its first materiality assessment
on ESG issues during the Reporting Period and prioritized the
management and improvement of material issues. The Board reviewed
and confirmed the outcomes of the materiality assessment, considered
material issues as part of the formulation of the Group’s overall strategy
and oversaw the management and performance of these issues.

The environment policies and performance of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2022 is set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” section on pages 95 to 150 of this Annual Report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details on related party transactions for the Reporting Period are set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of any
related party transactions which also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions not fully exempted under Rule
14A.73 of the Listing Rules are disclosed below. Unless otherwise
stated, capitalized terms used below shall have the same meanings as
those used in the Prospectus.

Payment Services Framework Agreement
Principal Terms

The Group has entered into a payment services framework agreement
dated December 6, 2022 with Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems
Company Limited ORJI AT E# XS AR 2 7l) (“Tencent
Computer”) (the “Payment Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Tencent Group will provide the Group with payment
services through its payment channel to enable the members of the
Group to pay their insurance premiums for the health insurance plans
on the Group’s platform through Tencent payment channel. The Group
collects such insurance premiums on behalf of insurance carriers and
pay a withdrawal fee to Tencent Group. This connected transactions
is also a related party transaction, which is disclosed in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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Pricing Policies

The service fee charged by Tencent Group is calculated as a
percentage of the total insurance premiums collected and withdrawn
by the Group on the Group’s platform through Tencent payment
channel. Such pre-determined fee rates are published on the website
of Tencent’s subsidiary providing such payment services which also
applies to other third parties, and are generally comparable with those
offered by Tencent Group’s competitors for services of a similar nature
and volume. The service fee rate currently applicable to the Group is
0.60%.

Before entering into any specific agreement under the Payment
Services Framework Agreement, the Group will assess its business
needs and compare the terms (including the service fee rate) proposed
by Tencent Group with those offered by other comparable service
providers. The Group will also take into account () the synergy with
its online platform such as its Weixin official account, (i) the quality
and stability of such payment services, and (iii) the familiarity with its
business needs.

Annual Caps

The annual caps for the service fees charged by Tencent Group for the
payment services for the year ended December 31, 2022 amounted
to RMB8.0 million, and two years ending December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2024 will amount to RMB10.0 million and RMB12.5
million, respectively.

Health Management Services Framework Agreement

Principal Terms

The Group has entered into a health management services framework
agreement dated December 6, 2022 with Medpion Cayman (the
“Health Management Services Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Excluded Group will provide the Group with
health management services for the individual members enrolled in
the Enterprise Health Plans, including physical and mental health
consultation. The Group has offered such health management services
as part of the promotion efforts for its Enterprise Health Plans. Individual
members enrolled in the Enterprise Health Plans will have free access
to such health management services provided by the Excluded Group
as and when necessary during the term of the Enterprise Health Plans.
This connected transactions is also a related party transaction, which
is disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.
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Pricing Policies

The service fee charged by the Excluded Group is calculated based
on arm’s length negotiation between the Group and Excluded Group
with reference to the fees charged by other market players for similar
services. The Group historically paid, and currently expects to pay,
approximately RMB500 to the Excluded Group for each individual
member enrolled in its Enterprise Health Plans who consumes such
health management services.

Before entering into any specific agreement under the Health
Management Services Framework Agreement, the Group will assess
its business needs and compare the terms (including the service fee)
proposed by the Excluded Group with those offered by other service
providers for comparable services. The Group will also take into
account (i) the quality and stability of such health management services,
and (i) the familiarity with its business needs.

Annual Caps

The annual caps for the service fees payable by the Group for the
health management services for the year ended December 31, 2022
amounted to RMB5.7 million, and two years ending December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2024 will amount to RMB13.0 million and
RMB28.0 million, respectively.

Contractual Arrangements

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in China, the
Company conducts online insurance brokerage service as part its
Health Insurance Services business through the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in China. The Company does not hold any equity interests
in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, but effectively control the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and are able to derive substantially all of
their economic benefits through the Contractual Arrangements.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the Group under the
Contractual Arrangements:

UTEEHARBENLHN RSB BER
EARKENZBEME R :

The Company
PiN/NC]
100%
WFOE Registered Shareholders!”
SEBERE 0 [T BRRR
1
1
Service fees | i Technical services Equity ownership
BBE 1 BRITARES P P
. 4

Consolidated Affiliated Entities (Onshore Holdco and its subsidiaries)

LEBBER (RRERARKRENBAR)

Notes:

(1) The current Registered Shareholders of the Onshore Holdco are the Founders
of the Group, the other previous individual shareholders of Lucky Seven
(namely, LI Dayong, ZHANG Hongdan, LI Ran, LUO Wei and ZONG Ze) and
several individual investors of the Company at early stage (namely LIU Xiujiang,
ZHANG Hong and YANG Donghao). The Founders owned approximately
71.81% share capital of the Onshore Holdco as of the date of this annual

report.
) “—»" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest.
Q) “----B” denotes contractual relationship. Under the Contractual Arrangements,

WFOE shall provide technical services to the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall pay service fees to WFOE directly.

(4) fommen ” denotes the control by WFOE over the Registered Shareholders
through (i) powers of attorney to exercise all shareholders’ rights in each of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, (i) exclusive options to acquire all or part of
the equity interests in each of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and (iii) equity
pledges over the equity interests in each of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are the certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our businesses in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations
or their interpretations change in the future, the Company could
be subject to severe consequences, including the nullification
of the Contractual Arrangements and the relinquishment of its
interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
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° The Company relies on Contractual Arrangements with the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their shareholders for a portion
of its business operations, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing operational control.

° Any failure by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities or its
shareholders to perform their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements with them would have a material and adverse
effect on the business of the Group.

o The Company may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities that are material to its
business operations if the Consolidated Affiliated Entities declares
bankruptcy or becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation
proceeding.

o The ultimate shareholders of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
may have conflicts of interest with the Company.

o The Company conducts its business operations in the PRC
through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under PRC
laws.

° If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, the ownership or asset
transfer may subject us to certain limitations and substantial
costs.

° PRC regulation of loans to and direct investment in PRC entities
by offshore holding companies and governmental control of
currency conversion may delay or prevent the Company from
making loans to the Consolidated Affiliated Entities or making
additional capital contributions to its wholly foreign-owned
subsidiaries in China, which could materially and adversely affect
its liquidity and its ability to fund and expand its business.

° The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by
the PRC tax authorities, and a finding that the Company owes
additional taxes could substantially reduce its consolidated net
income and the value of your investment.

o The current corporate structure and business operations may be
affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to Our Corporate Structure and Contractual Arrangements” of
the Prospectus.
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Summary of the Material Terms of the Contractual
Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

WFOE and Onshore Holdco entered into an exclusive business
cooperation agreement on May 10, 2021 (the “Holdco Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement”), pursuant to which Onshore
Holdco has engaged WFOE as the exclusive provider to provide
Onshore Holdco and its subsidiaries with comprehensive technical
service, technical consulting and other services, including operation
and business support, technical service, network support, business
consulting, financial consulting, intellectual property licensing, property
lease, market consulting, product research and development, system
maintenance, management consulting and other related services
as requested by Onshore Holdco and its subsidiaries to the extent
permitted under PRC laws.

Without the WFOE’s prior written consent, Onshore Holdco shall not,
and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, (i) receive services which are
identical or similar to the services covered by the Holdco Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement from any third party, or (i) enter into
any similar cooperation with any third party.

In consideration of the services provided by WFOE, Onshore Holdco
shall pay services fees to WFOE, which, subject to WFOE’s adjustment
at its sole discretion, shall consist of all the consolidated net profit of
Onshore Holdco and its subsidiaries (net of accumulated deficit in the
previous financial years (if any), costs, expenses, taxes and payments
required by the applicable laws to be reserved or withheld). The service
fees shall be paid annually by Onshore Holdco.

The Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement shall become
effective upon signing and remain effective until, among other things,
WFOE or its designee acquire all the equity interest in and/or all assets
of Onshore Holdco pursuant to the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option
Agreement below. Onshore Holdco shall not unilaterally terminate the
Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

In addition, WFOE and Beijing Sipai Brokerage entered into an
exclusive business cooperation agreement on September 15, 2022
(the “Subsidiary Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement’,
together with the Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements”), pursuant to
which Beijing Sipai Brokerage has engaged WFOE as the exclusive
provider to provide Beijing Sipai Brokerage with comprehensive services
and Beijing Sipai Brokerage shall pay services fees to WFOE. The key
terms of the Subsidiary Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
are similar with those of the Holdco Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement.
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Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements

WFOE, Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders entered
into an exclusive purchase option agreement on May 10, 2021 (the
“Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement”), pursuant to
which Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders have granted
WFOE or its designee an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase at
any time and to the extent permitted by the then applicable PRC laws (i)
from each of the Registered Shareholders all or any part of their equity
interests in Onshore Holdco and/or (i) from Onshore Holdco all or any
of its assets or interests in any of its assets.

Without the WFOE’s prior written consent, Onshore Holdco and the
Registered Shareholders shall not sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise
dispose of the shares or assets with a value of more than RMB1million
(as the case may be) of Onshore Holdco.

The purchase price payable by WFOE or its designee in respect of the
transfer of shares or assets shall be the nominal value or the lowest
price permitted under the PRC laws, and the Registered Shareholders
shall return the purchase price in full to WFOE or its designee to the
extent permitted under the PRC laws applicable then.

The Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement shall become
effective upon signing and remain effective until that () WFOE or its
designee acquire all the equity interest in and/or all assets of Onshore
Holdco and (i) WFOE and its subsidiaries are permitted to carry out the
business of Onshore Holdco under the applicable PRC laws. Onshore
Holdco and the Registered Shareholders shall not unilaterally terminate
the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement.

In addition, WFOE, Onshore Holdco and Beijing Sipai Brokerage
entered into an exclusive purchase option agreement on September
15, 2022 (the “Subsidiary Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement”,
together with the Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement, the
“Exclusive Purchase Option Agreements”), pursuant to which
Beijing Sipai Brokerage and Onshore Holdco have granted WFOE
or its designee an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase at any
time and to the extent permitted by the then applicable PRC laws (i)
from Onshore Holdco all or any part of its equity interests in Beijing
Sipai Brokerage and/or (i) from Beijing Sipai Brokerage all or any of its
assets or interests in any of its assets. The key terms of the Subsidiary
Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement are similar with those of the
Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement.
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Equity Pledge Agreements

WFOE, Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders entered into
an equity pledge agreement on May 10, 2021 (the “Holdco Equity
Pledge Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Registered Shareholders
has pledged all of their respective equity interests in Onshore Holdco
to WFOE as the first priority security to guarantee performance of their
contractual obligations under the Contractual Arrangements and all
liabilities, monetary debts or other payment obligations arising out of or
in relation with the Contractual Arrangements.

Without the WFOE’s prior written consent, the Registered Shareholders
shall not transfer or otherwise dispose of all or part of the pledged
shares.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the Holdco
Equity Pledge Agreement), unless it is successfully resolved to WFOE’s
satisfaction within 30 days upon being notified by WFOE, WFOE may
exercise its right of pledge at any time, including (i) requesting the
Registered Shareholders or Onshore Holdco to pay WFOE any due
payments, debt or any other payment under the Holdco Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement and/or any loan, or (i) dispose the
pledged equity interests in accordance with the Holdco Equity Pledge
Agreement or otherwise as permitted under PRC laws, including
selling the pledged equity interests at discount or by way of auction.
The Registered Shareholders have agreed to irrevocably waive their
pre-emptive right as existing shareholders when WFOE exercises such
right of pledge.

The Holdco Equity Pledge Agreement shall become effective upon
signing and remain effective until, among other things, (i) all obligations
of Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders are satisfied in full,
or (i) WFOE or its designee acquire all the equity interest in and/or all
assets of Onshore Holdco, and WFOE and its designees are permitted
to carry out the business of Onshore Holdco under the applicable PRC
laws.

The Group has registered the pledge of all the equity interests in Onshore
Holdco with the relevant administration for market regulation of the PRC.

In addition, WFOE, Onshore Holdco and Beijing Sipai Brokerage
entered into an equity pledge agreement on September 15, 2022
(the “Subsidiary Equity Pledge Agreement”, together with the
Holdco Equity Pledge Agreement, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”),
pursuant to which, the Onshore Holdco agrees to pledge all of its
respective equity interests in Beijing Sipai Brokerage to WFOE as
the first priority security to guarantee performance of its contractual
obligations under the Contractual Arrangements and all liabilities,
monetary debts or other payment obligations arising out of or in relation
with the Contractual Arrangements. The key terms of the Subsidiary
Equity Pledge Agreement are similar with those of the Holdco Equity
Pledge Agreement.
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Voting Proxy Agreements

WFOE, Onshore Holdco and the Registered Shareholders entered
into a voting proxy agreement on May 10, 2021 (the “Holdco Voting
Proxy Agreement”), pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders
have appointed WFOE and/or its designee as their exclusive agent
and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning Onshore
Holdco and to exercise all of their rights as shareholders of Onshore
Holdco.

Without the WFOE’s prior written consent, the Registered Shareholders
shall not exercise any rights attached to the shares of Onshore Holdco
which have been authorized to WFOE or its designee.

As a result of the Holdco Voting Proxy Agreement, the Company,
through WFOE, is able to exercise management control over the
activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of
Onshore Holdco. The Holdco Voting Proxy Agreement shall become
effective upon signing and remain effective until, among other things, (i)
WFOE or its designees acquire all the equity interest in and/or all assets
of Onshore Holdco, and (i) WFOE and its designees are permitted to
carry out the business of Onshore Holdco under the applicable PRC
laws.

In addition, WFOE, Onshore Holdco and Beijing Sipai Brokerage
entered into a voting proxy agreement on September 15, 2022 (the
“Subsidiary Voting Proxy Agreement”, together with the Holdco
Voting Proxy Agreement, the “Voting Proxy Agreements”), pursuant
to which Onshore Holdco has appointed WFOE and/or its designee
as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on its behalf on all matters
concerning Beijing Sipai Brokerage and to exercise all of its rights
as the shareholder of Beijing Sipai Brokerage. The key terms of the
Subsidiary Voting Proxy Agreement are similar with those of the Holdco
Voting Proxy Agreement.

Spouse Consents

The spouse of each of the individual Registered Shareholders (if
applicable) has executed a consent letter, pursuant to which he/she
has unconditionally and irrevocably agreed to the execution of the
Holdco Exclusive Purchase Option Agreement, the Holdco Equity
Pledge Agreement and the Holdco Voting Proxy Agreement, and has
no objection regarding the Contractual Arrangements.
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The spouse of each of the individual Registered Shareholders further
agrees that (i) any equity interests held by his/her spouse as a
Registered Shareholder in Onshore Holdco are not their communal
properties; (i) he/she does not have any interest in the equity interests
of Onshore Holdco, and will not raise any claim on the equity interest
of Onshore Holdco; (i) he/she will not take any measures that are in
conflict with the Contractual Arrangements; and (iv) he/she will take
any necessary measures to procure the performance of the relevant
agreements underlying the Contractual Arrangements.

The Foreign Investment Law

On March 15, 2019, the NPC promulgated the Foreign Investment
Law of the People’s Republic of China ( {fF#E AR LFBEINFIRE
7%) ) (the “FIL”) and replaced effective on January 1, 2020. After the
FIL comes into effect, the FIL replaced the law on Sino-Foreign Equity
Joint Ventures ( (R ANE B#E & F)E) ), the law on Sino-Foreign
Contractual Joint Ventures ( {4NE EAL & B2 )E) ) and the law on
Foreign-Capital Enterprises ( (YNE 1 2%) ) and became the legal
foundation for foreign Investment in the PRC.

The FIL stipulates three forms of foreign investment, but does not
explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements as a form of foreign
investment The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment. The FIL does not
mention concepts including “de facto control” and “controlling through
contractual arrangements” nor does it specify the regulation on
controlling through contractual arrangements. Furthermore, the FIL
stipulates that foreign investment includes “Foreign Investors invest
in China through many other methods under laws, administrative
regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council”. There
are possibilities that future laws, administrative regulations or
provisions promulgated by the State Council may regard Contractual
Arrangements as a form of foreign investment, at which time it will be
uncertain whether the Contractual Arrangements will be deemed to be
in violation of the foreign investment access requirements and how the
above-mentioned Contractual Arrangements will be handled. Therefore,
there is no guarantee that the Contractual Arrangements and the
business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities will not be materially
and adversely affected in the future due to changes in PRC laws and
regulations. In the event that such measures are not complied with, the
Stock Exchange may take enforcement actions against us which may
have a material adverse effect on the trading of the Shares.
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Reasons for Adopting the Contractual Arrangements

The Company conducts online insurance brokerage service (the
“Relevant Service”) as part of its Health Insurance Services business.
The Company currently operates the Relevant Service through the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities as PRC laws currently restrict foreign
ownership of value-added telecommunications service providers.

As a result of the restrictions imposed by PRC laws, the Company is
unable to own or hold any direct equity interest in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. Accordingly, the term ‘ownership’ or the relevant
concept, as applied to the Company in this annual report, refers to an
economic interest in the assets or businesses through the Contractual
Arrangements without holding any equity interest in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. The Contractual Arrangements, through which the
Company is able to exercise control over and derive the economic
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, are narrowly tailored
to achieve its business purpose and minimize the potential for conflict
with relevant PRC laws.

Pursuant to the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List)
for Foreign Investment Access (2021 Edition) (4} & & A4 B
EEE (BMESE) (2021), the “Negative List”), provision of
value-added telecommunications services falls within the “restricted”
category. As such, the shareholding percentage of a foreign investor
in companies engaged in value-added telecommunications services
(other than electronic commerce, domestic multi-party communication,
storage-forwarding and call center) shall not exceed 50%. In addition,
pursuant to the Administrative Measures on Internet Information
Services (BBt #{z B IR & B #t)%, the “Administrative
Measures”), a provider of “commercial internet information services”
(2 ETBEE B IR, namely provision of information or
website-design services through the internet to internet-users for a fee)
is required to obtain an ICP license.

The online insurance brokerage service of the Company involves
operation of commercial internet information services under the
Administrative Measures, such as online exhibition and sales of
insurance products, online information search and online claim initiation.
Such commercial internet information services is a sub-category of
value-added telecommunications services under the Negative List and
is therefore subject to foreign ownership restrictions and an ICP license
is required.

The online insurance brokerage service of the Company is conducted
by Beijing Sipai Brokerage which holds an ICP license.
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The extent to which the Contractual Arrangements
relate to requirements other than the foreign ownership
restriction

In addition to the foreign ownership restrictions above, pursuant
to the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (2016 Revision) (4hiE#& & & (= 1
¥ E B FE (20161835]) , the “FITE Regulations”) which has been
further amended by the Order No. 752 below, a “major foreign investor”
(i.e., a foreign investor who contributes more than 30% of the foreign
investment and is the largest investor among all the foreign investors)
who invests in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must possess prior experience in, and a proven track record of good
performance of, operating value-added telecommunications businesses
(the “Qualification Requirements”). Foreign investors that meet
these requirements must obtain approvals from the MIIT which retain
discretion in granting such approvals.

The MIIT issued a Guidance on the Application Requirements for
Establishing Foreign-invested Value-added Telecommunications
Enterprises in the PRC (/M EREL EBEXHEERMIREITER, the
“FIVATE Guidance”). According to the FIVATE Guidance, in order to
prove that it satisfies the Qualification Requirements, a foreign investor
applicant is required to provide a description of the value-added
telecommunications services previously provided by itself or its
direct shareholder/subsidiary, supported by, among other things, (a)
screenshots of websites and apps previously operated, and (b) color
scanned copy of previous telecommunication business licenses issued
by the relevant local authorities (unless no license is required in the
relevant jurisdiction). The FIVATE Guidance does not provide any further
guidance on the documents required to prove the satisfaction of the
Qualification Requirements.

On April 7, 2022, the State Council issued the Decision to Amend and
Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations ( B 7 B5 B8 7 & 24 Fl g 11 2B
DITBUEIR KR IE, the “Order No. 752”), which among other things,
removed the Qualification Requirements with effect from May 1, 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced during the
Reporting Period. There was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Contractual Arrangements
had been unwound on the basis that none of the restrictions that led to
the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements had been removed. As
of December 31, 2022, our Company had not encountered interference
or encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in operating its
businesses through its Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the
Contractual Arrangements.
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The table below set out the annual caps and the actual transaction
amount of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions for
the year ended December 31, 2022:

Actual

Transaction

Annual cap for Amount for

the year ended the year ended

December December

Connected Connected 31, 2022 31, 2022

Connected Transaction  Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
B 2022

B £2022F 12A31H 1t

12A31H 1t FEH

FENFELR ERRZEH

HEXZ BEAL BEBF k] (AR%EER) (AR%¥EER)
Payment Services Tencent Computer ~ Tencent Computerisa  Tencent Group will provide 8 4,92

Framework Agreement subsidiary of Tencent,  the Group with payment
one of the substantial  services through its
Shareholders payment channel to
enable the members of
the Group to pay their
insurance premiums for
the health insurance plans
on the platform of the
Group through Tencent
payment channel.
SN PRBIER HZ BAAE BAAERARAN RBASESBRAHINE
EAR AR BRAREERM MR
FERRZ— B EREENEEEH
BBRANXNREE
AEENTS FHHERE

BRI B RIRE

BIRRER EARA A
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap for Amount for
the year ended  the year ended
December December
Connected Connected 31, 2022 31, 2022
Connected Transaction  Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
HZ22022F
220225 12A318 L
12A318 L FEN
FENFELR ERRZ¢H
BERXS HEAL BEREZ Bk (AR¥EER) (ARWEER)
Health Management Medpion Cayman ~ Medpion Cayman is the The Excluded Group wil Bt/ 5.66
Services Framework holding company of provide the Group with
Agreement the Excluded Group. health management
As the shareholding services for the individual
structure of members enrolled in
Medpion Cayman the Enterprise Health
substantially mirrored ~ Plans, including physical
the Company’s and mental health
shareholding consultation.
structure before
Series F financing
(including the
Founders and other
major Shareholders),
the Company will
voluntarily treat
Medpion Cayman as
its connected person.
BEEERBIERGZ Medpion Cayman ~ Medpion Cayman & ZIBEFEE St
HEEENZERR rREERBENE
] ° f # Medpion AEERASERHERE
Cayman MR EZERE  REERRE 2EHLE
ABBTTALAE R#H-
FiRal & < RIEARIE
Rig (AFEIBAR
HEtARR) AR
71 B B2 £ Medpion
Cayman 1% A E i
At
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap for Amount for
the year ended  the year ended
December December
Connected Connected 31, 2022 31, 2022
Connected Transaction ~ Person Relationship Description (RMB million) (RMB million)
HZ2022%
HZ2022F 12A31A L
12A318 L FEN
FENFELR ERRZEH
BERZ BEAT BEREZ Bkl (AR¥EER) (ARWEER)
Contractual Arrangements  Mr. MA Xuguang Each of Due to regulatory restrictions N/A N/A
Mr. LI Ji Mr. MA Xuguang on foreign ownership
and Mr. LI Jiis an in China, the Company
executive Director of conducts online insurance
the Company brokerage service as part
of its Health Insurance
Services business through
the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in China.
SRR SRELE SREEERZELE P EHMNERAEN NEM TiEm
FlgsE HRARTHITESE  EERE AARARBE

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the

PENGAHEERRN
REBBRBELRS
ERARERRRBEE
BR -850

BUFNTEZCBH LAKERERS

above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and confirmed RSB :
that the transactions had been entered into:
(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (1) REAEBRER—REBHBEFREIL:

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and Q) I REEERIEEBRRET L &

() according to the agreements governing them on terms that are  (3) RBEREZETHFINHBERATAER

fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a AR SR IETRET L
whole.
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The auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions
in respect of the above mentioned continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

The auditors of the Group had informed the Board and confirmed
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the continuing connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the listed issuer’s board of directors;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the listed issuer’s group if the transactions involve the
provision of goods or services by the listed issuer’s group;

(8)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(4) have exceeded the cap.

In respect of each of the above-mentioned non-exempt connected
transactions, we have applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the
Stock Exchange has granted us, a waiver from strict compliance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, there was no connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction of the Group which has to be
disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules, save for the foregoing.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company'’s results, assets and liabilities for the last
four financial years are set out on page 6 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of the date of this annual report, the Company had 3,210
employees in total. Most of them are stationed in China.

The Company enters into standard employment agreements and
confidentiality agreements or clauses with all of its employees. The
Company also enters into non-compete agreements with its senior
management and core personnel. These agreements include a
standard non-compete covenant that prohibits such employee from
competing with the Company, directly or indirectly, during his or her
employment and for a certain period after termination of his or her
employment.

The Company is committed to establishing a competitive and
fair remuneration. In order to effectively motivate its employees,
the Company continually refines its remuneration and incentive
policies through market research. The Company conducts conduct
performance evaluation for our employees at least once a year
to provide feedback on their performance. Compensation for its
employees typically consists of base salary and a performance-based
bonus.

The Company believes that it has maintained good working
relationships with its employees. During the year ended December
31, 2022, the Company was not subject to any material claims,
lawsuits, penalties or administrative actions relating to non-compliance
with occupational health and safety laws or regulations, and had not
experienced any strikes, labor disputes or industrial actions which have
had a material effect on its business.

Major Customers

The Company has a broad base of customers. Its top customers
are primarily pharmaceutical companies for the Specialty Pharmacy
Business and Physician Research Assistance business, and insurance
carriers for the Health Insurance Services business. The Specialty
Pharmacy Business customers consist of individual patients that
purchase medicines at the specialty pharmacies, and pharmaceutical
distributors and pharmaceutical companies that procure medication
from Guangdong Dahui. During the Reporting Period, a substantial
portion of the Specialty Pharmacy Business revenue was generated by
medication retail sales to individual patients.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s sales to its
five largest customers accounted for approximately 7.66% of the
Group’s total sales and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 2.71%.

So far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or executive
officers of the Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates
or any Shareholders of the Company holding more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company immediately following the
completion of the Global Offering, had any interests in any of the five
largest customers during the year ended December 31, 2022 and up
to the date of this annual report.

Major Suppliers

The top suppliers of the Company are primarily pharmaceutical
manufacturers and distributors for the Specialty Pharmacy Business.
Suppliers of the Health Insurance Services business are mainly
companies providing business promotion and fee processing services
to the Company. Since the Group provides professional services by
itself in the Physician Research Assistance business line, the Company
does not need third party suppliers. For the Reporting Period, the
Company partnered with over 571 reputable manufacturers or
distributors, among which we typically had more than three years of
collaboration with our medication suppliers.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 73.30% of the
Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 36.83%.

All of the five largest suppliers during the year ended December 31,
2022 are Independent Third Parties. So far as the Directors are aware,
none of the Directors or executive officers of the Company or its
subsidiaries, their respective associates or any Shareholders of the
Company holding more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company immediately following the completion of the Global Offering,
had any interests in any of the five largest suppliers during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at December 31, 2022, the issued share capital of the Company
was 763,025,314 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended December 31, 2022 are set out on pages 163 to 164 in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2022, the Group did not have any distributable
reserves.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank loans or other borrowings as at
December 31, 2022 (2021: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report and based on the information
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained the minimum public float of
25% as required under the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this annual report are
set out below:

BhRBEERE
HBERMASFASHEEZNTEEREESL
BEENG BEARAR AR HIRIIRE
&% R B &S AR D ©

EENGHNEERE
HE2022F12A31B L FENBEEAFRA
B ARNREENSRERBENWT

Appointment

Name Position in the Company date of current term
" RA R B 2B REEHBNEEAEH
Directors

=

Mr. MA Xuguang Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer  May 19, 2015
BBELE: WITES EFSIRFEERNTE 2015%5H19H

Mr. LI Ji Executive Director and President August 17, 2015
FlEEE MITEEFRAH 201558 A17H

Mr. YAO Leiwen Non-executive Director October 29, 2019
kB R & FEMITES 20194 10H29H

Mr. ZHANG Ziguan Non-executive Director December 11, 2020
RERELE FEHITES 202012 A11H

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi  Independent Non-executive Director
(R, alias FREH) BIUIEMITES

CHANG Stanley Yi (58
- Bl R BE) kA4

Mr. HE Haijian Independent Non-executive Director
GIpE3=S s BUFHNTEE
Ms. HUANG Bei Independent Non-executive Director
'BRERL BUFHNTEF
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Appointment

Name Position in the Company date of current term
#®A R R 2 B REEHNEEEE
Senior management

BREEE

Mr. MA Xuguang Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer May 2015
SIEExE EESXIFERAFBUTE 2015554

Mr. LI Ji President August 2015
U B 201548 A

Mr. ZHOU Teng Chief Strategy Officer January 2019

EB L BREEEE 20191 A

Mr. LI Qi'ang Chief Operating Officer April 2019
FERHELE BREER 201944 A

To the best of the Board’s knowledge, information and belief, save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors and senior management
do not have any relationship amongst them.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 25 to 30 of this annual report.

WEF AR B NS BRAFRATE
BENEEZNSRERE ZHIL BT
&e

EELRAEREENBEFBIENAFRE
25%308 °

BREENEERAT —S=—FFH 55



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEHE

SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

The executive Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company under which he agreed to act as an executive Director for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in writing served by
either the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company under which they agreed to act as non-executive
Directors for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in
writing served by either the non-executive Directors or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than 30
days’ notice in writing served by either the independent non-executive
Director or the Company.

The appointment of Directors is subject to the provisions of retirement
and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service contract
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent and
remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company
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BIMR 3 R B M A A

R2022F 12831 AR R EE N ESITH
ABRARQR S HEAMEE A (EER F
FREIEEH) EXVED) G - BRERD &
BEEEPHEERE GBHERBEKR) EXV
HETRSDEHE MG AR F) KB R FTHE S
KAR (BIERE (BHEEPEGEG) NERH
BEXHEES R BHERNERLAR) IR
B (BHERBEED) E3B258 8N EFE
MELMAOER AR  RIRBIZETR S
THEARAR R ATHES OB IT

RS2 R AT K M BE IR 42 Ay e

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (EERATREN
EEpR B RERMtE HERAAZY BMAOT D (%)
Mr. MA Xuguang (“Mr. Ma”)*® Interest in controlled corporation; 163,534,455 (L) 21.43%
interest held jointly with another person
BBELE ([HEE]) PO REZIEEE R R
HE—ZATHERBENER
Mr. LI Ji (“Mr. LI")?® Interest in controlled corporation; 163,534,455 (L) 21.43%

interest held jointly with another person

TS E ([FRE]) Y RSB MRS

A B AT HEHANER

Notes:

(1) As at December 31, 2022, the Company had issued 763,025,314 Shares in
total. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  On August 5, 2021, Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, WISE APPROACH INVESTMENTS
LIMITED (“Wise Approach”), CREATIVE PIONEER INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(“Creative Pioneer”) and Sail Far Holdings Limited (“Sail Far”) entered into
a concert party agreement to confirm that they have acted in concert in the
management, decision-making and all major decisions of the Group. As
such, each of Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far is
deemed to be interested in the Shares in which each other is interested.

Each of Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far was incorporated in BVI
as a limited company as an employee incentive platform for the employees of
the Company, and beneficially owns 40,410,926, 16,119,529 and 10,004,000
Ordinary Shares of the Company, respectively.

(1) H2022F12A31H » &2 &) £ 5 17763,025,314
BRAR(D o TR L] A TRIRD BT E -

@ M2021FE8HAH B A FHx 4L
WISE APPROACH INVESTMENTS LIMITED
([Wise Approach ) - CREATIVE PIONEER
INVESTMENTS LIMITED ([ Creative Pioneer ])
J% Sail Far Holdings Limited ( [Sail Far |) 573 —
BITE @ UERARSEREENER RR
MATBERRER —BITH AL FhaE F
5T 4 - Wise Approach * Creative Pioneer % Sail Far
AR RN R REORD P AR -

Wise Approach * Creative Pioneer & Sail Fartd &
REBRAFSTMAZNERAR  ERA
SERENEERETE UDRNEREAAR
A 740,410,926/ + 16,119,529% 10,004,000
e AR
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Lucky Seven Healthcare Co., Ltd. (“Lucky Seven”) beneficially owns
57,000,000 Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company
incorporated in the BVI. As of the Date of this annual report, Lucky Seven was
owned as to approximately 0.02% by Simul International Holdings Limited (the
“Simul”), a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of Mr. Ma, 21.93%
by Salutem Holdings Limited and 78.05% by Hygeia Investment Holdings
Limited (“Hygeia”), both of which are the holding companies pursuant to the
family trust of Mr. Ma respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of Simul and
Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by Lucky Seven.

Spire-succession Limited (“Spire-succession”) beneficially owns 40,000,000
Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company incorporated
in the BVI. As of the Date of this annual report, Spire-succession was
owned as to approximately 0.0002% by Shining-succession Limited
(“Shining-succession”), a wholly-owned company incorporated in
BVI of Mr. Li and 99.9998% by Sper-succession Holdings Limited
(“Sper-succession”), a holding company pursuant to the family trust of Mr. Li,
respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of Shining-succession and Mr. Li
is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by Spire-succession.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, none of the
Directors of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

58

SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022

(©) Lucky Seven Healthcare Co., Ltd. ([Lucky
Seven | ) B & 557,000,0000& & A A1 1D * A&
REBEXHSEMKINBRAA -HEXR
FHRA - BIEF L ERKIRIEFE - Lucky Seven
£ Simul International Holdings Limited ([ Simul | )
(—FXEBEEREBRZEESFMK LA
2% A7) * Salutem Holdings Limited & Hygeia
Investment Holdings Limited ( [Hygeia ) (1%
MR A R BER AR DRI A 490.02%
21.93% 578.06% #E o E UL - R 15 (B35 KR H
E1&HB1) - Simul & 5 %t &£ & B 5 AR Lucky
Seven F5 G K REPHER e o

Spire-succession Limited ( [ Spire-succession | )
EF#= % B40,000,000 RN AKH A
REABEZHEFMAZHBRAA -
BHEAFRAH BEFTEEORKE
5t * Spire-succession B Shining-succession
Limited ([Shining-succession|) (—X
HEEEREBRELESEMA LN EZE
‘A 7)) M Sper-succession Holdings Limited
([Sper-succession |) (—ZIZREAR]) 2 5l
5 #70.0002% }299.9998% #E 7 o A It - 1R IE (&
% N HBEEHI) - Shining-succession & 2 %t 4 &
B 118 & 72 Spire-succession 1 & K A% £ % 5

R -

M EXETHE B AN FR2022F12 A31H » AR
AEEMEBERAQAREEMEEEZE (F
=R (EHFLHERN) EXVED) ARG - 18
ARNKEESTRE IR EREERE B
HREEEN) EXVIBHETRSD HAEME AN
NAIRBRAAMEMESZSAR (BREBE
(BHREEEA) BABIESUHE ERIR
BREANERRAR) BB (BHERHE
1&B)) FEI2E AN A AR AT ENER
M E A EE AR R EZESTRIZAMN
GARNE KRB R ERERIOXE



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at December 31, 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company, the following persons (not being
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the

Company
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TERRRRG R AARR G K E
ERARE

M2022F12A31H " BARREETS &ZSIT
BABATRA THAL (WIHFEARBESK
ERITBRAB)RBROKEEKRGFHERIR
B (BHFRHEGH) FEXVEBFE2RID Bk
XABARAFBRELCHEREARARE GB
HRHE KD F336IKEFENELMAE
HEKR

RS2 B R AT R 8B IR 40 VR

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
FER®G, S HEATREN
BRREE BB B, REmtE HEROAE"Y #MOBH (%)
Mr, Ma®“® Interest in controlled corporation; 163,534,455 21.43%
55 Sp 4 O interest held jointly with another
person
R EE R R
HE— AT HRBEHOER
Mr, Li®®® Interest in controlled corporation; 163,534,455 21.43%
2= 4 OO interest held jointly with another
person
R A E R R
HPE— AL HRAFEERE
Wise Approach®“® Beneficial owner; interest held jointly 163,534,455 21.43%
with another person
En#EEAN HE—ALTHA
BEMNER
Creative Pioneer®“® Beneficial owner; interest held jointly 163,534,455 21.43%

with another person
EREAA B — ATHA
FAEOER
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Total number

Approximate
percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (XD TAREN
BEKE BB 54, EakE HERAAHY BMOE D (%)"
Sail Far®“® Beneficial owner; interest held jointly 163,534,455 21.43%
with another person
EnBEAN  BE—ALTHA
BB ER
Lucky Seven® Beneficial owner 57,000,000 7.47%
EnEEA
Simul® Interest in controlled corporation 57,000,000 7.47%
RZ I EB R S
Spire-succession® Beneficial owner 40,000,000 5.24%
EREEA
Shining-succession® Interest in controlled corporation 40,000,000 5.24%
REZ I EB R S
Tencent Mobility Limited® Beneficial owner 168,266,382 22.05%
(“Tencent Mobility”) EmEB A
TPP Follow-on | Holding H Limited®  Beneficial owner 40,852,974 5.35%
(“TPP Follow-on”) Em#EB A
Tencent® Interest in controlled corporation 209,119,356 27.41%
i REZ I EB R S
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Total number

EEEHE

Approximate
percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held”  Company (%)™
RS~ (AR DTAREN
BEKE BB B4, EEtE HERAAHY BMOEDH(%)"
Eight Roads Investments" Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 68,231,737 8.94%
corporation
Enfgn NIEEEER
Eight Roads Holdings Limited” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.02%
REZIEEERER
Eight Roads Shareholdings Limited” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.02%
REZIEEE R ER
Pandanus Partners L.P."” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.02%
REZIEEE R ER
Pandanus Associates Inc.” Interest in controlled corporation 68,853,538 9.02%
REZIEEE R ER
Impresa Fund IIl Limited Beneficial interest; interest in controlled 69,191,196 9.07%
Partnership” corporation
EnfEn NIEEEEZR
Impresa Management LLC" Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.09%
REZIEEE R ER
Abigail P. Johnson"” Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.09%
REZIEEE R ER
Edward C. Johnson IV* Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.09%
REZIEEE R ER
FMR LLC" Interest in controlled corporation 69,324,439 9.09%
MNEZIEEERER
Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang® Interest in controlled corporation 53,072,466 6.96%

Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang 5t 4 ©

N EEE R

BIREZEBRERAR

—2-—55% 61
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Notes:

(1)

@
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All interests stated are long positions.

The table above assumes the Preferred Shares will be automatically converted
into Ordinary Shares of par value US$0.0001 each upon completion of the
Global Offering.

On August 5, 2021, Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail
Far entered into a concert party agreement to confirm that they have acted
in concert in the management, decision-making and all major decisions of
the Group. As such, each of Mr. Ma, Mr. Li, Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer
and Sail Far is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which each other is
interested.

Each of Wise Approach, Creative Pioneer and Sail Far was incorporated in BVI
as a limited company as an employee incentive platform for the employees of
the Company, and beneficially owns 40,410,926, 16,119,529 and 10,004,000
Ordinary Shares of the Company, respectively.

Lucky Seven beneficially owns 57,000,000 Shares. As of the date of this
annual report, Lucky Seven was owned as to approximately 0.02% by Simul,
a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of Mr. Ma, 21.93% by Salutem
Holdings Limited and 78.05% by Hygeia, both of which are the holding
companies pursuant to the family trust of Mr. Ma respectively. As such, under
the SFO, each of Simul and Mr. Ma is deemed to be interested in the equity
interest held by Lucky Seven.

Spire-succession beneficially owns 40,000,000 Shares. As of the date of this
annual report, Spire-succession was owned as to approximately 0.0002%
by Shining-succession, a wholly-owned company incorporated in BVI of
Mr. Li and 99.9998% by Sper-succession, a holding company pursuant
to the family trust of Mr. Li, respectively. As such, under the SFO, each of
Shining-succession and Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the equity interest
held by Spire-succession.

Tencent Mobility beneficially owns 168,266,382 Shares of the Company and
is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tencent. TPP Follow-on beneficially
owns 40,852,974 Shares of the Company and is a limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which is controlled by
Tencent. As such, under the SFO, Tencent is deemed to be interested in the
equity interest held by each of Tencent Mobility and TPP Follow-on.
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Eight Roads Investments directly holds 28,752,315 Shares. In addition, it has
more than one-third interest in each of Asia Ventures lll L.P.,, ERVC Healthcare
IV L.P. and F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP as a limited
partner. Therefore, under the SFO, Eight Roads Investments is deemed to
be interested in the 14,886,744 Shares directly held by Asia Ventures Il L.P,
12,748,851 Shares directly held by ERVC Healthcare IV L.P. and 11,843,827
Shares directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV LP
respectively.

Eight Roads Holdings Limited is the sole shareholder of Eight Roads
Investments. In addition, Eight Roads GP is indirectly wholly owned by Eight
Roads Holdings Limited and Eight Roads GP is the general partner of Asia
Partners Il LP and ERVC Healthcare Advisors IV LP. Therefore, under the
SFO, Eight Roads Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the 334,952
Shares directly held by Asia Partners Ill LP, 286,849 Shares directly held
by ERVC Healthcare Advisors IV LP and 68,231,737 Shares in which Eight
Roads Investments is interested.

Eight Roads Holdings Limited is owned as to more than one-third by Eight
Roads Shareholdings Limited and Pandanus Partners L.P., whose general
partner is Pandanus Associates Inc. Therefore, under the SFO, each of
Eight Roads Shareholdings Limited, Pandanus Partners L.P. and Pandanus
Associates Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Eight Roads
Holdings Limited is interested.

Impresa Fund Il Limited Partnership directly holds 29,711,774 Shares. In
addition, it has more than one-third interest in each of Asia Ventures Il L.P,
ERVC Healthcare IV L.P. and F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Fund IV
LP as a limited partner. Therefore, under the SFO, Impresa Fund Il Limited
Partnership is deemed to be interested in the 14,886,744 Shares directly held
by Asia Ventures Ill L.P., 12,748,851 Shares directly held by ERVC Healthcare
IV L.P. and 11,843,827 Shares directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners
Healthcare Fund IV LP respectively.
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Impresa Management LLC is the general partner of Impresa Fund Ill Limited
Partnership. Therefore, under the SFO, it is deemed to be interested in
the 69,191,196 Shares in which Impresa Fund Il Limited Partnership is
interested. In addition, Impresa Management LLC is the managing member
of Impresa Holdings LLC, which is the general partner of F-Prime Capital
Partners Healthcare Advisors Fund IV LP. Therefore, under the SFO, Impresa
Management LLC is also deemed to be interested in the 133,243 Shares
directly held by F-Prime Capital Partners Healthcare Advisors Fund IV LP.

Impresa Management LLC is controlled (as defined under the SFO) by each
of Abigail P. Johnson and Edward C. Johnson IV and owned, directly or
indirectly, by various shareholders and employees of FMR LLC. Therefore,
each of Abigail P. Johnson, Edward C. Johnson IV and FMR LLC is deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Impresa Management LLC is
interested.

JenCap RX and JenCap RX Partners L.P. beneficially owns 25,577,092 and
27,495,374 Shares of the Company.

JenCap RX, a company incorporated in Cayman Islands, is wholly owned by
Jeneration Capital Partners Il L.P., a Cayman Islands limited partnership of
which Jeneration Capital GP Il is the general partner. As such, under the SFO,
Jeneration Capital GP Il is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held
by JenCap RX. Jeneration Capital GP Il is ultimately controlled by Mr. Jimmy
Ching-Hsin Chang. As such, under the SFO, Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang is
deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX.

JenCap RX Partners L.P. is a Cayman Islands limited partnership of which
JenCap RX GP is the general partner. As such, under the SFO, JenCap RX
GP is deemed to be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX
Partners L.P. JenCap RX GP is ultimately controlled by Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin
Chang. As such, under the SFO, Mr. Jimmy Ching-Hsin Chang is deemed to
be interested in the equity interest held by JenCap RX Partners L.P.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required
to be entered in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the year, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended December 31, 2022, no issuance of debentures
was made by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors or their
associates had any interests in any business which competes or is
likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, save for the transactions
as set out above and note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
for which the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no other related party
transactions listed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
constituted a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed
in this annual report, the Group had not entered into any connected
transaction which was required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Due to regulatory restrictions on foreign ownership in China, the Group
conducts online insurance brokerage service as part of its Health
Insurance Services business through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
in China. The Company does not hold any equity interests in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, but effectively control the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and are able to derive substantially all of their
economic benefits through the Contractual Arrangements.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions — Contractual Arrangements” in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or an entity connected with a Director was materially
interested, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract which is significance in relation to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party subsisting during the year ended December 31, 2022 or at
the end of the year ended December 31, 2022.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company, or
one of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling Shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2022
between the Company and a person other than a Director or any
person engaged in the full-time employment of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its
associated companies during the year ended December 31, 2022 as
at the date of this annual report.

Except for such insurances, at no time during the year and up to the
date of this annual report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity
provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the
Company or associated companies.
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STAFF, EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
relevant Director’'s experience and qualifications, level of responsibility,
performance and the time devoted to the business of the Group, and
the prevailing market conditions.

In compliance with the relevant PRC labor laws, the Group enters into
individual employment contracts with its employees covering matters
such as terms, wages, bonuses, employee benefits, workplace safety,
confidentiality obligations, non-competition and grounds for termination.
The remuneration package of its employees includes salary and bonus,
which are generally based on their qualifications, industry experience,
position and performance. The Company considers the remuneration
package of its employees to be competitive among our domestic
competitors. The Company, by itself or through third-party human
resource agencies, make contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds for its employees as required by the applicable PRC
laws and regulations, and did not have any material non-compliance in
this regard during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee was set up for
reviewing the Group’s policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in note
10 to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and
there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band:
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The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band
for the year ended December 31, 2022:

TRITEHE2022F12831B ILEESRE
1 B IR & B 2D HF N -

Emoluments bands in DT ([HExl) Number of Individuals
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) GREEE R EE] A
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17,000,000 16,500,001 7T 217,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$56,500,001 to HK$57,000,000 56,500,0017% 7T £57,000,0007% 7T 1
HK$96,500,001 to HK$97,000,000 96,500,0017%8 7T 297,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$103,000,001 to HK$103,500,000 103,000,001/ 7T £1083,500,000/8 7T 1

SHARE SCHEMES
2017 Plan

The Company has adopted the amended and restated 2017 global
share plan (the “2017 Plan”).

The purpose of 2017 Plan is to attract and retain the best available
personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide additional
incentives to selected employees, Directors, and consultants and
to promote the success of our Company’s business. The 2017
Plan permits the grant of options and share purchase rights as the
Administrator may determine.

The participants of 2017 Plan include employees, directors or
consultants of our Group. The administrator may, from time to time,
select from among all eligible individuals to whom awards in the form of
options, share purchase rights, will be granted and will determine the
nature and amount of each option.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under
the 2017 Plan shall be determined by meetings of Shareholders of
the Company from time to time. The Company did not and will not
grant further 2017 Plan Options after the Listing. The Shares may be
authorized but unissued or reacquired Shares. The number of Shares
that are subject to awards outstanding under the 2017 Plan at any
time shall not exceed the aggregate number of Shares that then remain
available for issuance under the 2017 Plan. The Company, during the
term of the 2017 Plan, shall at all times reserve and keep available
sufficient Shares to satisfy the requirements of outstanding awards
granted under the 2017 Plan.

The 2017 Plan commenced on January 5, 2018 and shall continue in
effect for a term of ten years. Termination of the 2017 Plan shall not
affect the administrator’s ability to exercise the powers granted to it
hereunder with respect to awards granted under the 2017 Plan prior to
the date of such termination. No Shares shall be issued or sold under
the 2017 Plan after the termination thereof, except upon exercise of an
Award granted prior to the termination of the 2017 Plan.
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As of December 31, 2022, the Company had (i) issued most of the
underlying Shares of the 2017 Plan Options to Creative Pioneer
and Wise Approach before the Listing, respectively, and (i) granted
10,802,102 outstanding 2017 Plan Options, representing approximately
1.42% of the total number of Shares in issue. During the Reporting
Period, the number of Shares underlying the outstanding 2017 Plan
Options divided by the weighted average number of total Shares
in issue during the Reporting Period is approximately 9.6%. All the
outstanding 2017 Plan Options were granted between January 31,
2018 and October 18, 2022 (both days inclusive) and the Company
did not and will not grant further 2017 Plan Options after the Listing.
Subject to the maximum number of underlying Shares may be issued
under the 2017 Plan and requirements under the Listing Rules, no
maximum entitlement of each participant was set up under the 2017
Plan. The exercise price of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options is
between US$0.018 and US$0.330. The grantees were not required
to pay any consideration for the grant of the outstanding 2017 Plan
Options. The fair value of the 2017 Plan Options granted in 2022
amounts to RMB39,104,000.

Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding 2017
Plan Options throughout the Reporting Period:
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H E2022F12A31H KA R 2 () B L AT
43 Bl [\ Creative Pioneer & Wise Approach 217
2017 AT EIE R R R Z BB AR 1D 5 R (i)
# F10,802,1028% I 15 By R 17 {F20174F 5T &
B (B BITIRMDBEELN.42% - R IR
SHIN - B E1T2017F 5T 8 BB R E AR (5
HEBRUAFRERHAC BITRODBEAINETF
EH B9.6% ° FT B M ARITE20174 51 £ 8
A% #E B 7201841 A31H £20224610A18H
HERE (BEEERAB)  BARFRNES
B ERF TSR THE—F2017F 5 8IER
T o ZIRIE2017F 51 &) 7] T 21T AR D
B R & ETHRAMRTERRER &R
BRO17TF T EIR ER L EENTRER - A
RITE2017F 5 BB M TTEE N T0.018
ZE L E0.330FE T oA B A B AT HERRE
AR F 8 R ITEA2017F 5T 2 BB AR 4 - 1A
2022F I M2017F T2 IR ERN A FEE A
AR #39,104,0007T °

T SCRL BB B 96 45 0 7 14 R AT G ) B
— BB B BN

Fair value of
per 2017
Plan Options Approximate
at the percentage
date of grant Forfeited/ of total
and the Cancelled/ number of
Granted Exercised accounting Lapsed Shares in
Outstanding during the during the Exercise standard during the  Outstanding issue as of
at January Reporting Reporting price Date of and policy Vesting Validity Reporting  at December  December 31,
Grantees ' 1, 2022 Period Period (Us$) grant adopted”® schedule period Period 31,2022 2022
201755 &
BREARM
AEZAYE 20225
R2022% R REEHR 120225 12A31B4E
1A18 REE REE i i ER 2RE/ 128318 RTRHEH
AR HATE  HRERT  HBREGE (%7 RHBH REF BRRER BRE  H#H/&N HATE WEOEAL
Employees 10,157,422 1,468,984 - US80.22 July1,  US$1.87and  Vesting in the portion of 10 years 1,674,304 9,952,102 1.30%
2022 US81.88  35%, 30% and 35% on
the second, third and
fourth anniversaries
of the vesting
commencement date
{35 0.20%7T 20226 187ETLR 35% 30% 235% 106
7R1R 188X BANFREERL
HYE- 2=k

FLEFRR
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Fair value of
per 2017
Plan Options Approximate
atthe percentage
date of grant Forfeited/ of total
and the Cancelled/ number of
Granted Exercised accounting Lapsed Shares in
Outstanding during the during the Exercise standard during the  Outstanding issue as of
at January Reporting Reporting price Date of and policy Vesting Validity Reporting  at December December 31,
Grantees ' 1, 2022 Period Period (Us$) grant adopted’ schedule period Period 31,2022 2022
PIVESE |
BRENS
ABzAVE 20225
R20225 Rt REEHR H202%  12B31A4E
1818 R E RiE k@ -] 2R/ 126318 BTROAH
AEA WA HREEF  HAEAR (%) B AH REX’ FEREX BRE  EH/XR HATE WENEAL
US$0.33  October 18,  US$1.77and 264,000 granted 2017
2022 U$1.79 Plan Options will be
vesting in the portion of
35%, 30% and 35% on
the second, third and
fourth anniversaries
of the vesting
commencement date
462,500 granted 2017
Plan Option will be
vesting in four equal
yearly instalments
after the vesting
commencement date
0.33%T W0F  1TIERLR 264000/ B
10A188 1795 201TEHEIBRIES
REBRREEE-
FEREMBEERRE
35%  30% [236% #7
462,500 2 & (1120174
sHEIBRER
FERREDE
MESEHBER
Senvice providers 650,000 200,000 - US80.22 July 1, US$1.88 Vesting in 4 equal 10 years - 850,000 0.11%
2022 yearly instalments
after the vesting
commencement date
REBRES 0.22%7T 20205 188X SERRASHE 105
TR1R PFEBHBER
Total 10,807,422 1,668,984 - - - - 1,674,304 10,802,102 1.42%"
@t
Exercisable at 6,896,659
December 31,
2022
20205
12A318
a7
Weighted average US$0.2455 US$0.0310 US$0.0513
exercise price
per share’
H%Jﬂjiéﬂ?’f:] 1 0.2455% T 0.0310% 7T 0.0513% T
(g
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Notes:

1. The grantees of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options include current
employees, former employees and external consultants of the Group. None
of the grantees of the outstanding 2017 Plan Options are (i) Directors, chief
executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their respective
associate; (i) granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limited;
and (i) related entity participant or service provider with 2017 Plan Options
granted and to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the
total number of Shares in issue.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital. For details, please refer to Note 32 to the financial statements in this
annual report.

S8 For details of the accounting standard and policy adopted in relation to and
the basis of the measurement of fair value of 2017 Plan Options, please refer
to Notes 2 and 32 to the financial statements in this annual report.

4. The discrepancies between total and sums of amounts listed above are due
to rounding.

Further details of the 2017 Plan are set out in the Prospectus.
RSU Scheme

The Company adopted the restricted share unit scheme adopted by
the Company in 2021 (the “RSU Scheme”).

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to recognize and motivate the
contributions the grantees under the RSU Scheme, provide incentives
for them to remain with the Company, and attract suitable personnel for
our further development.

Participants of the RSU Scheme include (i) the employees or officers
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors of the Group); (i) any person or entity (including but not
limited to consultants engaged by the company services to the Group)
that provides research, development, consultancy and other technical
or operational or administrative support to the Group; and (iii) any
other persons including former employees who, in the sole opinion of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, have contributed or will
contribute to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Total number of Shares that may be delivered under the RSU Scheme
are 10,004,000 Shares. Subject to the total number of Shares may be
delivered under the RSU Scheme and requirements under the Listing
Rules, no maximum entitlement of each participant was set up under
the RSU Scheme.

The RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period of ten years
commencing on the adoption date of the RSU Scheme, after which
period no further Awards will be granted. In spite of this, the RSU
Scheme in all other respects remain in full force and effect and Awards
that are granted during the Term may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.
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Further details of the RSU Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

As of December 31, 2022, all of the RSU under the RSUs Scheme,
representing a total of 10,004,000 underlying Shares, representing
approximately 1.31% of the total number of Shares in issue had been
granted and remained unvested to Mr. ZHOU Teng, the chief strategy
officer of the Company, to reward his significant contribution, as the
chief strategy officer of the Group, to the business development and
equity financing of the Company in the past few years. During the
Reporting Period, the number of Shares underlying the outstanding
RSUs divided by the weighted average number of total Shares in issue
during the Reporting Period is approximately 8.89%.

Set out below are details of the movements of the outstanding RSUs
throughout the Reporting Period:

SR Bl Aty BALE &M E — ST RN AR

size

H E2022F12A318 * LR HI i 5 BE L5t &l
THFTA ZBR §I M E Az (B4 ££10,004,000
REAB RN (D (h B BT D B8 41.31% )
HERTMEAREB TARAEREKE
A URBRIEAASEEREEKER
BEHFEHARNEBERKBEREEL
HEREE - RIREHR B TR AAERE
PR HI A% 19 BALRR ATRE HAR B 317D AY
IniEF 5 E 4 58.89% ©

TS SCER D P EE A e 75 HA P R R AT (R O 2R
BB EEFE:

Approximate
percentage of
Fair value at Forfeited/ total number
Granted Exercised the date of grant Cancelled / of Shares in
Outstanding during the during the and the accounting Lapsed during Outstanding issue as of
at January Reporting Reporting Exercise Date of standard and Vesting  the Reporting at December  December 31,
Grantee 1, 2022 Period Period price grant policy adopted schedule Period 31,2022 2022
EEZ202F
REHAHZ REESHR 120225 1273168
H20225151A REEHR REEHR AFERRMZ -3 Ve 128318 BORGER
ERA HRTE BRF Bk ke RBH B ERIRHE FRERER F3 HRATE BOEI
ZHOU Teng - 10,004,000 - nil- October 25, 2022  The fair value of RSUs  The RSU shall be vested - 10,004,000 1.31%
at the grant date for a terms of 4 years
was approximately  from the grant date and
1S820.85 milion in the portion of 35%,
determined with 30% and 35% on the
reference to the fair second, third and
value of the Ordinary fourth anniversaries
Shares of the of the vesting
Company. commencement date
Ak - - & 2020%10A25R RR IR Bl RB IR ELH - 10,004,000 131%
R B A GEERASRY
LTENAR AERsmE T
208500005 HEFGAHNES
BZRAF F-RENME
LRRODTE BFEE®%%
EEe 30% J235% 2 7

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company at any
time during or subsisted at the end of the year ended December 31,
2022.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year ended December
31, 2022 amounted to approximately RMB2.06 million.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2022, except for the Global
Offering in connection with the Listing, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on December 23, 2022 by way of Global Offering, and
the total net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) received by the Company
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from the Global Offering amounted to approximately HK$120.4 million — BREEEWERRIFTSHIEF 58 ([FIEFEFHE])
after deducting professional fees, underwriting commissions and other — #8¥84) /212048 &/& 7T
related listing expenses.
The intended uses and the balance of the Net Proceeds as at #iF Ak M 2022912 A31 H A5 5 I8 F 58
December 31, 2022 are set out below: ERETIWT
Utilised Unutilised Expected
amount as at amountasat timeline for
Percentage to December 31, December 31, unutilized
total amount Net proceeds 2022 2022 amount
H2022F H2022F
Intended use of proceeds ARERFMRE hazEmn FBRE 12831H 12A318 XBRASEN
as stated in the Prospectus HERERE BAt FE CHASE FBAeE BEHEEX
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT
(a) Business expansion: (@) EMXHER: 87 104,800 0 104,800 2024
20245
() Further expansion of Specialty () #—SEREF% 35 42,200 0 42,200 2024
Pharmacy Business BREEK 20244
(i) Expansion of Physician (i) EERBEWMER 28 33,700 0 33,700 2024
Research Assistance BEB 20244
Business
(i) Expansion of Health Insurance (i) BERERERER 24 28,900 0 28,900 2024
Services business BEB 20244
(b) Technology research and (b) FfirhE 13 15,600 0 15,600 2024
development 20245
() Improvement of the capabiity () R=Z%,/ &R 10 12,000 0 12,000 2024
of system/application BrHREEH 20244
development team £
(i) Further research and i) &—FHEAK 3 3,600 0 3,600 2024
development of improving our ERMERRE 20244
technology infrastructure and BERAAR

new solutions

The Group will utilise the Net Proceeds in accordance with the intended
purposes as set out in the Prospectus. The Board is not aware of any
material change to the planned use of the Net Proceeds as at the date
of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 75 to 94 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company, together with the management
and the external auditor, had reviewed the accounting policies and
practices adopted by the Group as well as the internal control matters,
and had also reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ended
December 31, 2022 have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for

re-appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the
AGM.

By order of the Board

Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
MA Xuguang
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 15, 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Shares were listed on the Main Board on December 23, 2022. The
Board hereby presents to the Shareholders the corporate governance
report for the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2022 (the
“Period”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of its shareholders and to
enhance its corporate value and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period, save for the deviations from the code provisions C.2.1, C.5.1,
D.3.3 and F1.1.

Details of deviation are set out below in this corporate governance
report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules for dealings in securities of the Company by the
Directors and relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code from the
Listing Date.

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company from the Listing Date.
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs as well
as aligning the Company’s culture with its purpose, value and strategy.
All Directors should take decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
establishment of ESG system, material transactions (in particular
those which may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a
view 1o ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board fully supports the Chief Executive Officer and the senior
management to discharge their responsibilities.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to management, it has given clear directions
as to the powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management shall report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Company adopted written terms established on division of
functions reserved to the Board and delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for

Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

76 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022

EExg
B

RAREBNEREEREZCAE ES
SERERENEHAAR -EFEEHFAAE
BEREBARANER URERAR A
XAcEERE - BEB MR 0 UEEXR
RAEINRKI) - 2B E = RIAKR DA M & BIK
BEREBMELIRE -

EEREEALANAEATE RRENLE

REEHERAFE BRANKRIAL N

ERRERERRM BRS A EREA

SIS BARS (RRR TS RARERY

%5) BHEH EAEERAMEANK
BEFE -

2BEEYT2ERE GG IEEER
ARAFREGEARRE UERESS
125 R BT i R AR B R AR B e 7 o

EEE-RAUNEEBATAESTSREE
K SFBUEXER BRBAARQAEE-

ARAZBEER TBRNEENRIRTIT
BN REIRE - TR IR A B e B T 1
EIBeEHrd  LASABREETENE
AR GH ABISEESHE-

EXZe2 IXBERATERSREERERE

TTHEBE-

IE]

EZeREBRERTHBEEREEER
ACHEEENEOFELRAERER LER
BB AERRA R RME LR TE St E )&
MAIARESSERMGESTSEAUE
MR °

ARAPERMNREESEHBESRE LRI D
EZeMRENBAELEEBRERNEE

ARBIEHREERSREEABRRBES
MESHERTY REFLRSABENS
ERHEERR -



Board Composition
The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. MA Xuguang (Chairman)
Mr. LI Ji

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAO Leiwan
Mr. ZHANG Ziguan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (3R, alias 3k 22&F )
Mr. HE Haijian
Ms. HUANG Bei

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant
to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the
Listing Rules. Saved as disclosed, there is no financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship among the Directors. Biographical
details, including offices held in public companies or organizations and
other significant commitments of the Directors are set out in the section
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive directors of the Company and considers all of them
to be independent having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on
independence as required under the Listing Rules, (i) the absence
of involvement in the daily management of the Company, and (i) the
absence of any relationships or circumstances which would interfere
with the exercise of their independent judgement. Throughout the
Period, the number of independent non-executive Directors on the
Board meets the one-third requirement under the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.
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Independent View

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors and
at least one-third of its members being independent non-executive
directors. Further, independent non-executive directors will be
appointed to committees of the Board as required under the Listing
Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent views and
input are available. The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to
the independence assessment criteria as set out in the Listing Rules
with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of independent non-executive directors to ensure that
they can continually exercise independent judgement.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The executive Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with the
respective terms.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with
their respective terms.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall be subject to retirement
by rotation once every three years.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company which provide
that the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the
first annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for reelection. The Articles of Association of
the Company also provided that at every annual general meeting of
the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Accordingly, all Directors will be subject to re-election at the forthcoming
AGM. None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election or any
other Directors has a service contract that is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she
has appropriate understanding of the businesses and operations of
the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements. Continuing briefing and professional development for
Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development (“CPD”) program to develop and refresh
their knowledge. Internal briefings for Directors will be arranged by the
Company and reading materials on relevant topics will be issued to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.
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The records of CPD relating to director’s duties and regulatory and
business development that have been received by the Directors for the
Period are summarized as follows:

Name of Directors

EERHEMERXEHEEERENMREETUR
EBBROTEERBRCEMANT

Type of Training

BE=pE EAER

Notes
B

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. MA Xuguang Aand B

BBELEE AKB

Mr. LI Ji Aand B

xSk AKB

Non-executive Directors

FHITES

Mr. YAO Leiwan Aand B

kXA AKB

Mr. ZHANG Ziquan Aand B

REERE AKB

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (3R}, alias 5k 2 &) Aand B

CHANG Stanley Yi (3R - Bl &R 2 &) £ £ AKB

Mr. HE Haijian Aand B

(Gpis3Etaa AKB

Ms. HUANG Bei Aand B

mREL T AKB

Notes: B aE

Types of Training HFIlER

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications
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Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

As the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on December
23, 2022, only one Board meeting was held during the period from the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report. However, code provision
C.5.1 of the CG Code provides that Board meetings should be held at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with active
participation of the majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communication. The Company expects to continue
to convene at least four regular meetings in each financial year at
approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with code provision
C.5.1 of the CG Code.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board
committee meetings of the Company held during the period from the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report are set out below:
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Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HERE/ EERE
Remuneration
Audit  and Appraisal Nomination Strategy

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General

Name of Director meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meetings(s) Meeting(s) meeting(s)
BRZEE MR REZEE  EKZES

BEnE EZ883 Ef £8% - - RRAE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. MA Xuguang 11 N/A N/A 11 N/A N/A
SRELE TER TEA TER TER
Mr. LI Ji 11 N/A 11 N/A N/A N/A
THELE NiEH @A TER @R
Non-Executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. YAQ Leiwen 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
a3 TER TEA A TER TER
Mr. ZHANG Ziquan 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
REELE TER NEA @A TER TER
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUKYTES
Mr. CHANG Stanley Yi (5=, lias 5% 2 5f) 11 11 N/A 11 N/A N/A
CHANG Stanley Yi (33 b4 K28 ) £ 4 TEm TER TEm
Mr. HE Haijian 11 11 11 11 N/A N/A
gL E @A TER
Ms. HUANG Bei 11 11 11 N/A N/A N/A
BERT A TR TNER
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Practice and Conduct of Board Meetings

Notices of regular Board meetings will be served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings (or such other period as agreed). For
other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
regular Board meeting or committee meeting (or such other period as
agreed) to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management, where necessary, attends regular Board
meetings and other Board and committee meetings to advise on
business developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory
compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the
Company.

The Articles of Association contains provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

The agenda of each Board meeting is in consultation with members of
the Board such that they are given an opportunity to include agenda
items, draft and executed Board minutes are sent in a timely manner
to all Directors for their comments and records, minutes of the Board
meetings recorded in sufficient details are kept by the Company
Secretary.
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Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged the directors and officers liability insurance
in respect of legal action against the Directors during the Period. The
insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be segregated and should not be
performed by the same individual. According to the current structure of
the Board, the positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are held by Mr. MA Xuguang.

The Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires
approval by at least a majority of the Directors and that the Board
comprises three independent non-executive Directors out of seven
Directors, and the Board believes there is sufficient check and balance
on the Board, (i) Mr. MA Xuguang and the other Directors are aware
of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as Directors, which
require, among other things, that they act for the benefit and in the
best interests of the Company and will make decisions of the Group
accordingly, and (i) the balance of power and authority is ensured
by the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting
the operations of the Group. Moreover, the overall strategic and
other key business, financial and operational policies of the Group
are made collectively after thorough discussion at both the Board
and senior management levels. Finally, as Mr. MA Xuguang is one
of our co-founders, the Board believes that vesting the roles of both
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables
more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group.
The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of the Group in order to assess whether
separation of the roles of chairman and chief executive officer is
necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, Nomination
Committee and Strategy Committee for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to Shareholders upon request.
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The majority of the member of Audit Committee, Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The Board committees are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties, and upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three members, all of them
are independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHANG Stanley
Vi, (3R2f, alias 3R 2 #F) (“Mr. Chang”) Mr. HE Haijian (‘Mr. He”) and
Ms. HUANG Bei, (“Ms. Huang”) with Mr. Chang being the chairman of
the committee.

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board
in providing an independent view of our financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system, overseeing the audit
process and performing other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board which includes, amongst other things:

° proposing to the Board the appointment and replacement of
external audit firms;

° supervising the implementation of our internal audit system;

° liaising between our internal audit department and external
auditors;

° reviewing our financial information and related disclosures; and
° other duties conferred by the Board.

As the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on December
23, 2022, only one Audit Committee meeting was held during the
period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report. However,
code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code provides that members of the
Audit Committee should liaise with the Board and senior management
and the committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the auditors.
The Company expects to continue to convene at least two regular
meetings in each financial year at approximately semi-annually intervals
in accordance with code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code.
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Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee with terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee consists of Mr. He
(independent non-executive Director), Mr. LI Ji (“Mr. Li”) (executive
Director) and Ms. Huang (independent non-executive Director), with
Mr. He being the chairman of the committee.

The primary function of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
is to develop remuneration policies of our Directors, evaluate the
performance, make recommendations on the remuneration packages
of our Directors and senior management and evaluate and make
recommendations on employee benefit arrangements which includes,
amongst other things:

o establishing, reviewing and making recommendations to our
Directors on our policy and structure concerning remuneration of
our Directors and senior management;

° determining the terms of the specific remuneration package of
each Director and members of senior management;

° reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by our
Directors from time to time;

° reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

o other duties conferred by the Board of Directors.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee held
one meeting to review the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and assessed the performance and remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management, and made recommendations
to the Board, where appropriate. No material matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were required to be
reviewed or approved by the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
during the Reporting Period.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five individuals
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2022 are set out in the notes 10 and 11 to the Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination
Committee consists of Mr. Ma (executive Director), Mr. He (independent
non-executive Director) and Mr. Chang (independent non-executive
Director) with Mr. Ma being the chairman of the committee.
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The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to our Board in relation to the appointment and
removal of Directors which includes, amongst other things:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of our Board on
a regular basis and making recommendations to the Board
regarding any proposed changes;

o identifying, selecting or making recommmendations to our Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o assessing the independence of our independent non-executive
Directors;

o making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of our
Directors; and

° other duties conferred by the Board.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, before
making recommendation to the Board.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to discuss
the nomination and appointment matters of Directors, and review the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors.

Strategy Committee

The Company has established a Strategy Committee consists of
Mr. Ma (executive Director), Mr. Li (executive Director), Mr. YAO Leiwen
(non-executive Director) and Mr. ZHANG Ziquan (non-executive
Director), with Mr. Ma being the chairman of the committee. The
primary duties of the Strategy Committee are to study and advise
on the long-term strategy and operation plans of our Group. The
Strategy Committee will assist the Board, in conjunction with our
management, in addressing our Company’s overall mission, vision and
strategic direction. Areas of focus will include: providing the Board
and management, as applicable, with input and recommendations
with respect to key strategic initiatives and major R&D programs and
partnerships; and assisting management in establishing a strategic
planning process, identifying and addressing organizational challenges
and evaluating strategic alternatives.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the objective and approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognizes the benefits of having a diversified Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the achievement of our Company’s strategic objectives
and sustainable development. All Director appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to
ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation
to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited
to skills, professional experience, educational background, knowledge,
expertise, culture, independence, age and gender.

The Company aims to maintain a truly diverse Board which will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors.
These differences will be taken into account in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on
merit while taking into account diversity (including gender diversity).

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised six male
Directors and one female Director, providing the Board with a direct
and diversified channel of the opinion from both genders. In addition,
the Directors believe that the composition of the Board reflects
the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Group and effective
leadership, taking into account the extensive experience, skills and
knowledge of each Director and the balanced mix of two executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that Board
diversity (including gender diversity) has been achieved with reference
to the current circumstances of the Company, and the present
structure of the Board can ensure the independence and objectivity of
the Board and provide a system of checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Shareholders. We will implement policies to ensure
gender diversity when recruiting staff to develop a pipeline of female
potential successors to the Board. Furthermore, we will implement
comprehensive programs aimed at identifying and training our female
staff who display leadership and potential, with the goal of promoting
them to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the policy for the
nomination of directors on an annual basis.

Workforce Diversity

The Group follows the principles of “openness, equality, competition,
and merit” and does not discriminate against applicants on the basis
of gender, race, age, religious beliefs, and other factors. The Group
actively promotes diversity in the workforce and encourages the
employment of employees from all backgrounds. The Group has
established systematic external and internal recruitment management
process to ensure the quality of recruitment and select qualified and
outstanding talents.

As at December 31, 2022, the gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) is 513 (male): 2,697 (female). For further details of
gender ratio together with the relevant data, please refer to the section
headed “8. ESG Key Performance Indicators” under the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will consider the following factors upon the
assessment of candidates:

(1)  Review on the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board at least once a year, and also make recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to align with the Company’s
strategies.

(2)  Fully consider the Board Diversity Policy, individual performance,
individual capability, professionalism, knowledge, experience and
time that can be devoted to the Company, personal credibility,
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange and applicable laws
and regulations etc.; identify candidate(s) with appropriate
qualifications to be member(s) of the Board, and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individual(s)
nominated as director(s).

(8) Make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters

regarding the director(s) and succession plans for the director(s) (in
particular, the Chairman and chief executive).
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Period, the Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee
Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 151 of this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors of
the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended December 31, 2022 amounted to approximately RMB5.4
million and nil respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company, Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended December 31, 2022 is set out below:
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Service Category PR # %8 5l B ENEA
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(AR®TFIT)

Audit Services in relation to primary listing BHEE— LR ERS 3,360
Audit Services in relation to annual audit BT EETNZEIRS 2,000
5,360
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines to identify, assess, evaluate and monitor
key risks associated with the Company with regular review for
implementation by key business processes and office functions. The
Audit Committee reviews annually the continued effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems dealing with
risk and financial accounting and reporting, the effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, compliance with laws and regulations, and risk
management functions. The Directors through the Audit Committees
are kept regularly appraised of significant risks that may impact on
the Group’s performance. Up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee had reviewed and confirmed to the Board, that the
Group’s risk management and internal control system are effective and
adequate.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems are
featured with well-defined organizational structure with appropriate
segregation of duties, limit of authority, reporting lines and
responsibilities to identify and manage potential risks, and to safeguard
assets of our Group.

The management assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provided
treatment plans, and monitored the risk management progress, and
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee

on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examined key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls and provided its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee. Any urgent matters in
relation to the relevant areas of internal control will be reported in a
timely manner. Review results and recommendations in the form of
written reports are submitted to the Audit Committee for discussion
and review. Follow up actions will be taken up by the Internal Audit
Department to ensure that material weaknesses previously identified
have been properly resolved.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls,
for the year ended December 31, 2022, and considered that such
systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered
the financial reporting and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.

Whistleblowing policy is in place to facilitate employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access and use of
inside information are strictly prohibited.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

With effect from March 13, 2023, due to commercial arrangement
between the Company and SWCS, Ms. TSANG Wing Man, as an
employee of SWCS, has resigned as the joint company secretary of
our Company and Ms. Li has been appointed as the joint company
secretary, while Ms. Ren continues to act as the other joint company
secretary of our Company.

Ms. Li has assisted on the Company Secretarial matters of the
Company and has closely communicated with Ms. Ren.

During the Period, Ms. Li and Ms. Ren have received no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training to refresh their skills and
knowledge in compliance with Rules 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, directors are
available to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. As of the date of this annual report, the Board has reviewed
the policy and confirmed that it is effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

This Shareholders’ Communication Policy aims to set out the provisions
which ensure that the Shareholders and in appropriate circumstances,
the investment community at large (which include the Company’s
potential investors as well as analysts who report and analyze the
Company’s performance), are timely provided with information about
the Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments and corporate governance), in order to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to enhance the communication between the Shareholders, the
investment community and the Company.

The Company also maintains a website (www.medbankshealthtech.com),
where information and updates on the Company’s financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

During the Period, the Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
multiple communication channels for the Shareholders in place and the
steps taken to handle Shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly implemented
and effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code provides that the issuer should
have a policy on payment of dividends. As the Company intends to
retain most, if not all, of the Company’s available funds and any future
earnings to fund the development and growth of the Company’s
business and has not yet adopted a dividend policy to declare or pay
any dividends in the near future, the Board will review the Company’s
status periodically and consider adopting a dividend policy if and when
appropriate.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents may only be
effected by way of special resolution. The Articles of Association has
been amended and restated with effect from the Listing Date. The
Company has not made any changes to the Articles of Association
since the Listing Date. An up to date version of the Articles of
Association is also available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings of the Company, including the election of individual Directors.
All resolutions put forward at general meetings of the Company will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Associations, general
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one
or more members deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General meetings
may also be convened on the written requisition of any one member
which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be
held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board
provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association
for requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting and including a
resolution at such meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article
12.3 of the Articles of Association are set out above.

Putting Forward Enquiry/Requisition to the Board
For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal

with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: 7/F, Building 3, Xingguangyao Plaza, No. 1888 Caoyang
Road, Putuo District, Shanghai, PRC

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: ir@medbanks.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full

name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Basis and Principles of Preparation

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
is the first ESG Report that Sipai Health Technology Co., Ltd.
(the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries and consolidated
affiliated entities (collectively, the “Group” or “we”, “our”’ and
“us”), is pleased to publish to demonstrate its environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) performance in response to
stakeholder concerns. The Report should be read in conjunction
with the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in the
Company’s Annual Report 2022 for a more complete picture of

the Group’s ESG performance.

The Report was prepared on the basis of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) published by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Report complies
with the mandatory disclosure requirements and the “comply
or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and
adheres to the Reporting Principles of Materiality, Quantitative
and Consistency. The appendix to the Report is the content index
of the ESG Reporting Guide, which provides cross-reference for
readers.

The Group applies the above Reporting Principles in the
preparation of the ESG Report as follows:

o Materiality: The Group uses materiality assessment to
identify material issues during the Reporting Period. Please
see the “Materiality Assessment” section for more details;

o Quantitative: The standards, methodologies, assumptions or
calculation tools used by the Group to disclose quantitative
indicators, where practicable;

o Consistency: The Report is the first report published by

the Group. We will explain any future changes in statistical
methods or key performance indicators.
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1.3

1.4

1.5

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Reporting Boundary

The reporting boundary of the Report is consistent with that of the
Company’s Annual Report 2022. The Report covers the Company
and all its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities.

The Report covers the period from January 1, 2022 to December
31, 2022 (the “Reporting Period”), with modest extensions
forward and backward.

Currency Description

Unless otherwise specified, amounts in the Report are
denominated in Renminbi.

Form of Publication

The Report is available in both Chinese and English for readers’
reference. In case of any discrepancy, the Chinese version shall
prevail. You are welcome to access electronic versions of the
Report in both English and Chinese on the Company’s official
website (www.medbankshealthtech.com) and the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

Report Feedback

If you have any questions or feedback about the Report and its
contents, you are welcome to contact us through the following
methods:

ir@medbanks.cn
7/F, Building 3, Orstar City, No. 1888 Caoyang Road,
Putuo District, Shanghai

Email:
Address:
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ESG GOVERNANCE

Board Statement

With the strategic goal of “becoming a leader in the digital
transformation of healthcare industry in China”, the Group has the
vision of “creating an integrated health management network to
provide quality and accessible healthcare services to the public”.
It at the same time establishes and improves its own sustainable
development governance system, striving to improve the level
of sustainable development governance, building sustainable
development influence and creating sustainable development
value for all stakeholders. The Board of Directors (the “Board”)
would like to express its sincere gratitude to the management and
staff who have worked together to establish an ESG framework
over the past year, and show its great respect to all shareholders,
investors, customers and partners for their interest, trust and
support in its sustainable development efforts.

The Group has clearly defined the role of the Board in ESG
governance and strives to integrate the concept of sustainable
development with the overall corporate development strategy.
It has established a top-down ESG governance structure with
clear responsibilities. The Board is responsible for overseeing and
reviewing the overall ESG objectives, management strategies
and management approaches, including identifying, evaluating,
prioritising and managing material ESG-related issues. The
Group conducted its first materiality assessment on ESG issues
during the Reporting Period and prioritised the management
and improvement of material issues. The Board reviewed
and confirmed the outcomes of the materiality assessment,
considered material issues as part of the formulation of the
Group’s overall strategy and oversaw the management and
performance of these issues.

In respect of ESG risk management, the Board ensures that
the Group has appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems in place. We have recognised ESG
risks related to supply chain, government regulations, intellectual
property protection, information security, human resources,
anti-corruption, etc. We plan to systematically assess ESG-
related risks in the future, identify material ESG risks, and strive
to gradually integrate ESG risks into the overall corporate risk
management system.
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In setting ESG objectives, the Board has always kept an eye on
the impact of daily business operations on the environment and
strives to minimise the impact on the environment. We have taken
many measures to save energy, reduce emissions and conserve
resources in our daily office and Specialty Pharmacy Business
operations. In the future, we will carefully assess the impact of our
operations on the environment, set specific environmental targets,
and develop corresponding action plans.

The Report provides detailed disclosure of the Group’s ESG
performance in 2022.

Governance Structure

The Group is fully aware that a sound governance structure
is conducive to the orderly enhancement of the overall
company-wide sustainable development management, the
effective implementation of ESG strategies and management
approaches, the accurate identification, assessment
and management of ESG risks, and the detailed setting,
implementation and tracking of ESG objectives.

During the Reporting Period, we established an ESG governance
framework to advance and implement ESG practices. The
ESG Working Group is a working group under the Board and
is authorised by the Board to assist the Board in guiding and
monitoring the implementation of ESG issues. The specific terms
of reference is shown below:

ESG Working Group
ESGI{E/MA

Functional and
business departments
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ESG governance Composition
framework

ESG B8 ABHER
Board Board members
E5g EEgKE
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Terms of reference

B

=9I

Overseeing the Group’s ESG issues;

Overseeing and reviewing the Group’s overall ESG management
objectives, management strategies and management
approaches;

Overseeing and reviewing the Group’s management approaches
and management strategies, including the process and results
of identifying, evaluating, prioritising and managing material ESG
issues, including risks to the Group’s businesses;

Reviewing the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities and
overseeing ESG risk management and internal control systems;
Reviewing the Group’s ESG-related goals and reviewing the
progress made against them; and

Reviewing material ESG management issues, including but not
limited to reviewing the annual ESG report.
EEARKENESGEE
EEFEALEBESGERARBAT BERBRERE
EEREFASEETEIH R EBRE BEER E 8
REFI R EBEMESGEZRHE (BREUEEXBHNER)
AP EREN SR
FEARASBEESGHRM AR E%E - BB ESG R E I Kk AEL
el P
ERASEESGHBE R MR EEAERERER &
EREAESGEEFIR  BRETRNEZFEESGHRE



ESG governance Composition

framework

ESG E/A%EE ABHERK B
ESG Working Group Person in charge of each e

functional department and e
business department

ESG T &/l E B REBPPIRI R TS5 R T

>

Liaison for ESG matters in
each department

Functional and business
departments

EREEMPIMEBEF  SEFIESGEBHMA o
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Terms of reference

BEoT

Following up on the implementation progress of ESG issues;
Studying and setting the Group’s overall ESG objectives,
management strategies and management approaches;
Coordinating and overseeing the implementation and execution
of ESG-related work by various functional departments and
business segments of the Group, and establishing relevant
systems and processes in accordance with the Group’s overall
ESG management objectives, management strategies and
approaches;

Evaluating and determining the potential risks and opportunities
and the associated impact of material ESG issues on the Group’s
business strategies, and establishing appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control systems;

Studying and setting the Group’s ESG objectives and managing
the performance and progress made against the objectives;
Coordinating the preparation of the annual ESG report by the
relevant departments of the Group and submitting it to the Board
for consideration;

Being responsible for the materiality assessment on ESG-related
matters in the business management process of the Group and
determining ESG-related disclosures; and

Performing other ESG-related tasks as requested by the Board.
REESCGEEEMER

MRl E AR EBESGEIREB AT BERBLERE
BRIEAEEESGERRRAR BERRE LT 5% HH
NEBEBRRBAL P M EBIRSE B NI TESGAERI L1
HIETAERAHIE - AR

A R EETE ESG B 2 = H AN 5 B 5 T 58 I ) VB 1 [ B B A

BNMEBRE WRIZABEMA XA ESG R KR EIE K& A EE:
TR

B0 HE AR MESG B I A BRI R TR
SBRBEA LN BPIERTHESGHE T2XES
EEH

£ B A BAE M E T B2 T RESG B FEM BB
REESGAMMREEE: K
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Being responsible for the collection, collation and submission of
ESG-related information and data;

Being responsible for implementing ESG issues of the Group and
carrying out ESG-related practical activities; and

Assisting in ESG publicity and training and stakeholder
communication to build up a good corporate image.

BB ESG ILIFIERAME & BURe W R B IB A HX TIE
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2.3 Stakeholder Engagement

The Group, which values communication with stakeholders,
responds to the demands and expectations of various
stakeholders, including government and regulators, shareholders
and investors, patients/consumers, employees, suppliers and
partners, customers/members, partners, the community and the
public, through various channels, and sets ESG development
goals accordingly, so as to continue to create shared value
with stakeholders in the course of the Group’s sustainable

2.3 FHEBELEE

AEBERBENZEBEHINER BB
EHERE DERFREE®E BRR
kEEHE -BE/BBE BT HED
HAERY BF /28 AFERH
EMAREZFZMAEHOFKMBE -
WENHIFESGEREEIZ EAEEA
AR ERRER T IFEEN AR5
EHEEE.

development.
Stakeholders Engagement methods Expectations Responses
M AEEE A BREAR HEMOBE KPR E e
Government and e Regular announcements e Compliance with laws and e Compliance operations
regulators e Policy setting regulations e Compliance with and
e Government visits e Tax payment in accordance implementation of national
with laws policies
e Fulfilment of social e Promoting social employment
responsibilities e ESG governance framework
e Job creation
e Anti-commercial bribery and
integrity building
BN REEHRE s EHIRE o BEEFBER e GRES
o HURHIE o FORMM o BRIWHITERBE
o BUNREIESRF s BITHEEME o REHERE
e RlEMEKE o ESGEGRHRE
s REEMBKERZRER

Shareholders and
investors

BRREEREE
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General meetings of
shareholders

Regular announcements,
roadshows

Press conferences
Investment analyst research

B AR
EHRE R
HER G
188 5T AT

Robust investment returns
e Business and profit growth
Transparent information
disclosure

e Prevention of risks

R IR & O R
EEENEIE R
BRANEERE
By &0 [ fe

Periodical information
disclosure

Convening of general
meetings of shareholders
Improvement of internal
control system

Revenue generation
EHREERKE
AFRRRKRE
TENITERR

BliE s



Stakeholders
FEES

Patients/Consumers

BEHEE

Employees

Suppliers and partners

HEFESERHF

Engagement methods

BEAR

Specialty pharmacy services
Pharmacist services

Service hotline

Social media communication

iy BEBL S R A%

L) B AR 7%

%Wﬂ?
RERERE

Email, telephone, written
communication, etc.
Employee survey

Employee training

Social media communication

- E

Elﬂﬁ
8 T
HRIEEEEE

B EEEEB

Contracts and agreements
Business communication
On-site visits

Regular evaluation

Daily communication

& R

FBRR

Eﬁtﬁ /{E EIE

7E BARTAS

HEBB
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Expectations

HERMNHE

Safety and quality of
products and services
Responsible marketing and
promotion
Customer privacy protection
and data security
Consumer relationship
maintenance
EnklBEHNLriEs
BEELHESE
EFRILRERBIEL S
HEEBEREE

Occupational health and
safety

Employee development and
training

Employment and labour
practices
BEERERS
8 TR ERET
BB & 55 T AR

Supply chain management
Strengthening industry
collaboration for common
development

HrEEE R
IRITERIERLREE

BIREZEBRERAR

EREE

I«%iﬁ ’ ?‘i%& B/A

Responses

EMHEE

Quality management of
products and services
Consumer satisfaction survey
and complaint handling
Protection of consumer
privacy and data security

EmlkRGEEERE
HEE M T EHE 2R
gl
REHEERLEBIEL

£

Employee health and safety
protection

Competitive remuneration
package

Extensive employee training
Clear career promotion path
BT REEZ2RE
BHEFINHFNEGE
=8 TE
BAREE) R B TR AR

Fulfillment of contracts

Open tenders

Developing cooperation
Promoting industry exchange
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Stakeholders Engagement methods Expectations Responses
M= ERER BEAR HEMHHLE R E E
Customers/Members ¢ Contracts and agreements e  Quality of service and e |mprovement of the quality of
e Customer meetings communication products and services
e Business communication e Responsible marketing and e Enhancement of customer
e Health insurance sales promotion communication
platforms e Health protection e Protection of privacy and
e Non-medical professional data security
services
EF/ /&8 o BRWH e REFMEREE s RAEMKRBES
s BEFE# e ARMFLIHETHE o NMBEFER
o XA o RERFE o RIEFBILEBMIELSE
e BERRIHETS e JFBBEEXRY
The community and e The Company’s official e Fulfilment of social e Strengthening community
the public website responsibilities communication
e Social media communication ©  Community relations and e \/olunteer activities
e Community charity activities community investment e Charitable donations
e Emission management e Promoting local employment
e Use of resources ¢ Reducing negative
e Tackling climate change impacts on the community
environment
HEMAR e RAIEH s BITHEEME o INERAIEER
o MRERER e HEMEREHEKRE s FREMELH
o HEAZED o HER o HERE
o ZRHA o WENARE
o EHRIEE( s BREUHHERENAEY

g5
=
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2.4 EEMFME

Material issues identified our sustainability priorities. During the SUZBRARMOASELREEIIE
Reporting Period, we entrusted a third-party professional agency AR -MNARERRN BRIEEE =
to conduct a benchmarking analysis with regulators, peers and FEERE REASEEBEZGMA
rating agencies based on the nature of the Group’s businesses FEERERR BREEERE RT
and sustainable development strategy, and selected 17 material I MEEHREEST R 1718
issues, namely 3 environmental issues, 11 social issues and EEWEER BEEREERZE 1
3 governance issues, and then obtained the outcomes of the Et e EEEENNIEE A EmEE
assessment on material issues through management’s judgment. EMARETEBHE SIEEMEE
The outcomes were considered and adopted by the Board, and FEER - ZEERERETe RS ES
the issues judged to be highly material will be highlighted in the HbhwH e hAeEEEZ BB aEARE
Report. RETEREFE-

Process to assess material issues: FEEMEBATEME:

Identifying material issues

WA EE M RRE

Assessment and outcomes of
material issues

EEMBENANER

Confirmation by the Board

Exemi

Benchmarking with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange, peer
companies, rating agencies, etc.

Building a library of potentially material issues

BB P KESGHREIES]) RTHRE ARABEERREEDN
BUEBTEZHHEEE

The Group’s management assessed potential material issues and classified material
issues as highly material, material and generally material in descending order of
importance

Six highly material issues, nine material issues and two generally material issues
were identified. The specific outcomes are shown in the table below
AEEEEEHEEEEMRBETIN SEENRERREZRERS T
BoREEEE EEN—REE

RHEREEERR JHEZRBMN2E—REERE ABERBRATX

The Board reviewed the outcomes of the materiality assessment and ultimately
confirmed the relevant ESG issues as annual material issues

EXeFSE2NHMAER ITRREREHESGRERFEERERA
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Outcomes of the assessment on material issues:

Highly material issues

SEEERE
Environmental issues /
REEBEZRAE /
Social issues e Safety and quality of

products and services
e Responsible marketing and
promotion
e Employment and labour
practices
e Customer privacy protection
and data security
Health protection
EmIkRGHLZ2EEE
BEIEHESE
e 1% K45 T AR
EFRILRERHELZ S
fEERIRE

HEEEEE

Governance issues e Compliance operations

i
i
i
=
ik
[
)

SIRIEE
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BE2MHER

Material issues

EEEE

Emission management
Use of resources
Tackling climate change
BB R
BIRH A

JEEI RIRE L

Supply chain management e

Occupational health and

safety °

e Employee development and
training

e Consumer relationship

maintenance

HEHEER .
BxERERE .
8 TR EE
HEEREGE

e o o o

e Anti-commercial bribery and
integrity build-up
ESG governance framework
RS N BB R

o ESGERRE

AHfA AR -

Generally material issues

—REEHRE

Intellectual property
protection

Community relations and
community investment
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OUR SERVICES

Product Quality

As a provider of medical and healthcare products and services,
the Group always puts the life and health of consumers first and
strictly controls the quality and safety of products and services to
provide consumers with safe and secure products and services.

The Group places great importance on the quality and safety of
the medicines it sells. We strictly comply with relevant laws and
regulations, including the Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Drug Administration Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Implementing Regulations of the Drug
Administration Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the
Measures Regarding the Administration of Drug Information
Service over the Internet, and strictly follow the Good Supply
Practice for Pharmaceutical Products to take effective quality
control measures in procurement, product inspection, storage,
sale and delivery of pharmaceutical products to ensure the quality
of pharmaceutical products.

The Group is committed to implementing stringent product
and service quality and safety management measures at every
stage of the Specialty Pharmacy Business. We have actively
established a series of internal quality management schemes to
provide guidance on all aspects of our operations. The Specialty
Pharmacy management team is responsible for implementing the
procedures under the quality management systems to ensure that
quality and safety controls are carried out in every aspect.

B HEREARRE

3. RMHVERIE
31 EmEE

ER—RREHBRREERLKRBHE
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Specialty Pharmacy
Business Operation stage

RBHERXBELERR

Procurement

2

Product inspection

EmRR

Storage

Product and service quality and safety management measures

EnkiBEEL 2T EBEH

To ensure the quality of products, we select pharmaceutical manufacturers
after rigorous screening and inspection, with their brand reputation, market
acceptance and physician recognition taken into account. We usually select
leading pharmaceutical manufacturers and distributors as suppliers for the sale of
pharmaceutical products;

In order to achieve efficient management of suppliers, we have set up a
professional procurement team to manage the quality of suppliers’ products,
logistics and returns and replacements. According to the agreements entered into
with suppliers, we have the right to return any substandard products. We also
have the right to return any damaged or contaminated products if caused by our
suppliers.

RIEREMESE HNBERERHE &v&ﬂgﬁé%ﬁﬁ D EE M5
RERBERAE FBEREGERERDFET  RABTEEES %mgﬂ

SUER Ry HEEREE Eme R

SAERHEFNSMEE RAKIL -XEXREBEER A EERHERNE
mEE R SRIE - IRIRERMER R LA ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ffTAWFm
AEHEFHEDTMERTBRZSR  HPITFERES

Prior to warehousing, we inspect the appearance, packaging, labels and
specifications of the products and examine the products according to the delivery
orders and the inspection reports issued by suppliers.

Em AR BMGHERNING AR BREXABETRE TREXTE
HEFHANRRRESHEMETRR

For products stored in our warehouse, we periodically conduct quality
maintenance, inspection and management, and monitor the storage conditions
to ensure compliance. We have temperature-controlled warehouses to maintain
suitable storage conditions to ensure the quality and safety of our pharmaceutical
products;

Certain specialty medicines are stored separately in safe and controlled settings
and managed by professionally trained personnel.

RRERFEEEFNERME RMNESTHETESLE RENEE WEEH
R AERE R - RPIEBREREE  #FEaBEEMBE E R 2MNRERM

ETHEEREBTRELEMIENRET TAXBEXFINABETE
#o
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Specialty Pharmacy
Business Operation stage

RBHERXBELERR

Sales and delivery
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Product and service quality and safety management measures
EmkRBEELERER

e We will inspect and ensure the quality of the products to be delivered prior to
delivery from the warehouses or specialty pharmacies;

e We will confirm the selection of medicines with customers at the time of delivery
and will allow returns or replacements of products in the event of a misdelivery or
quality problem (e.g. product damages or contamination);

e Our after-sales specialists are in charge of after-sales quality complaints and take
effective measures to resolve the complaints.

HERRXM o EREBFIFEEEZE A KMERELBRRRINERNE S
s EXRNEMF ZMTEHEEFERERER SHRERINIEERHE (F
MEMBZEITR) BB REFPETEEIRE:
s BMWEXRIZEEEEREERFRERDEMIE L SHRIETF-
During the Reporting Period, none of the Group’s products sold RAREHAN AEEEEXDEXD
or shipped were subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. EmBHPRERL T EERIERAM
W) EE o o
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3.2 Customer Services

110

The Group’s increasingly strong businesses are inextricably linked
to consumer support, so we spare no effort to protect the rights
and interests of consumers, upgrade their consumption scenarios
and experiences in an innovative way, and keep providing
them with secure, quality and efficient healthcare products and
services.

Specialty pharmacy services

The Group oversees and manages pharmacists in strict
accordance with the Administrative Measures for the Registration
of Licensed Pharmacists, in order to ensure the compliance of
the operations of specialty pharmacies, continuously improve
the consultation service capability of pharmacists and optimise
the medicine purchase experience of patients. We have
adopted stringent hiring procedures for pharmacists working
in our specialty pharmacies, which involve in-person interviews
and assessments of technical knowledge. We also require our
in-house pharmacists to receive regular training on relevant
safety and compliance policies, standards, programmes and
procedures, and conduct acceptance and evaluation of the
training effectiveness to ensure that in-house pharmacists
maintain the ability to offer quality services. In addition, we have
a rigorous prescription verification system in place, and a dual
pharmacist performs review procedures to avoid and manage the
risks associated with provision of prescription drugs, ensuring that
all prescriptions are compliant, standardised and appropriate.

We continuously provide more convenient and comprehensive
services for our patients by offering quality medications, rich
pharmacist experience, and comprehensive medication selection
and effective medication management. In response to patient
complaints about products or services, we provide an after-sales
service hotline (+86 400 052 3990) as the main communication
channel to effectively handle customer complaints and related
drug inquiries in accordance with our internal procedures. In
the meantime, a customer comment book is available for us
to actively collect feedback from patients on our services or
products, so as to urge us to continuously improve our products
and services. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
receive any complaints about its products and services.
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Sipai’s Full-process Patient Management Services provide relief to patients
BREE EE T IERE #BEE T BN

MEDOFFERKX offers professional guidance services to help patients understand diseases and medicines, and comes up with
measures to deal with possible adverse reactions, in a bid to improve patient compliance with treatment regimens and ensure
treatment efficacy. Data from project studies showed that patients who received Sipai’s full-process patient management
services had a 4.68-month extension of DOT' compared to patients who did not receive such services, enhancing treatment
benefits for patients.

BIRAREEMBHNESEXNIRERBBAENBEERARANER RHEHIELEBENHTIRRENEIE 2
MASBBEARNKEY RIEGEEY - BHEARBBER EXTRREEER2RERBH BB L REZZR
R B E FAZEDOT IR T4.681E A 1558 7 BE KR K

Considerate service makes patients feel warm
L IR 5 E &R

A patient surnamed Yao in Shanghai praised the quality of services provided by the staff at MEDOFFERX as “responsive,
people-oriented, and satisfactory”. Due to the mobility problem facing the elderly patient, our staff members of MEDOFFERX
actively guided the patient to the consultation location, delivered medicines earlier than the appointment time, and helped the
patient complete the preparations for diagnosis and treatment in advance, such as registration and payment, enabling the
patient to feel the warm service.

FRHKEERIAERUE - UARK RBICIBEFERRALE TIEENRBEE -ABEFRTHNE  HM
WERE TIEERGEBERESI DS FRBANHERAXELER VRAEEETKENHBS2RERGLE
FEEBERZ DT AOAE BRI R

! DOT B 22456 % +% 48 B 5 (Duration of Therapy)
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Physician Research Assistance

The Group provides SMO services to pharmaceutical companies
and medical institutions in strict compliance with the Good
Practice for Clinical Trials of Drugs, so as to manage clinical
trials and facilitate drug research and development activities. To
ensure the quality of SMO services®, we have adopted standards
of practices that cover all important steps in the SMO service
process and have established a quality assurance system to
monitor and enforce quality standards. We have established a
comprehensive internal training system to ensure that our key
CRC® team in SMO services gets familiar with international and
domestic regulatory requirements and industry knowledge,
and strictly follow standard trial protocol. In the future, we will
leverage our medical expertise and data insights in oncology
and other critical diseases to assist pharmaceutical companies
in clinical trial site selection and participant enrollment through
our SMO services, with a view to promoting drug research and
development and commercialisation.

Health Insurance Services

The Group strictly follows the relevant laws and regulations
such as the Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Measures for the Regulation of Internet Insurance
Business to provide its members with access to a network of
medical institutions and physicians and a comprehensive range
of medical and health management services. We also work with
major insurers to develop specialised insurance products for our
members, such as “Hui Min Insurance” (literally, benefiting-people
insurance), our first insurance plan that was launched in 2019,
and “Jian Kang Bao” (literally, health insurance) that provides more
comprehensive protection for employers and their employees.

BAME Y

AEBBERER(EYERASREEE
EIRE) PEVREMBERE R BEH
BIRUESMO FR7%° - AB BB IR S8R )2
R B 3% B - R R SMO AR TS Y
HE B2 HRARESMO R BIZH
EEESRNERRE YEEVE
EREBAREEMNNTEERE -
F SMO AR 7% 5 8 42 #) CRC°E BX - F 1
TRES e & K AR IE I 68 & - FE AR 2 P
) CRC B A BB M B A B & Bk &
TTRMB YERBREREENABTT R
RE - BAIKBREANEEEREE KM
fEERR T E R R E XML BIER
520 - 818 SMO R 75 17 B) 8 e 2 RIET T
RS R XAERE B HHE
MIEMERCER-

IR RHS

AEBEBEEEMR (PEAREMBER
woEy R (BB RIRR ESBEE IR
LHEEEER RBEMNe EREH#®
ANEBERERBERK WESZ2EMN
EENEREERBENERE R I
MMEFBREARASE Mg EH
[ F 3 E P IR EE @ » 2020194 5
HrE ERREE [BRR] A KEE A
EBEREETIRHEZ2EREN R
R] e

SMO stands for site management organization, an organization that provides clinical trial-related services to medical device companies and has
adequate infrastructure and staff to meet the requirements of the clinical trial protocol.

§ ERISE RS RBRENARREERABEEREOERE ZRBEENARASBRIRERN R CERRBRAE -

CRC stands for clinical research coordinator, a person responsible for conducting non-clinical work under the guidance of, and as an assistant
to, a principal investigator in clinical trials.

° BERAMEHRE ERAARTEEEIEMRENEE TER T ETEBRKIIENAL-

112 SIPAI HEALTH TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. Annual Report 2022



3.3

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Aiming to ensure the quality of Health Insurance Services, we
rigorously screen out healthcare providers by taking into account
a variety of factors, including their reputation and qualifications,
expertise and experience, service quality and capability, availability,
and their equipment and facilities, and require them to hold the
necessary licences, comply with relevant laws and regulations,
and follow our service guide. Moreover, we also carefully monitor
feedback from our members on the services provided by these
healthcare providers, and take that into consideration when
determining our continued cooperation with them. For general
practitioners and physicians in the Health Insurance Services
network, we require them to provide us with their qualifications
and licences and to strictly adhere to the work scope and
quality requirements specified in their service agreements. With
its advanced data insights and actuarial capabilities, the Group
will continuously expand the network of healthcare providers
and connect more Grade 3, Class A hospitals, physicians
and medical examination institutions, along with our Specialty
Pharmacy Business, to provide trusted, quality health and disease
management services to more patients and members.

Responsible Marketing

The Group operates our businesses based on the principle of
integrity and strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations,
including the Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Interim Administrative Measures for Censorship of
Advertisements for Drugs, Medical Devices, Dietary Supplements
and Formula Foods for Special Medical Purpose, and the
Provisions on Administration of Instructions and Labels of
Medicines, to ensure marketing compliance and brand integrity.

We keep the marketing strategy for our services and products
under strict control. All advertising content, copy and other
marketing materials posted online must be reviewed by our Legal
Affairs and Risk Control Department and submitted to the relevant
government authorities for review. The Group expressly prohibits
advertising prescription drugs on the website that it operates and
must ensure that any advertisement of medical treatment, drugs
or medical devices does not include any assertion or guarantee
as to the function and safety or any statement of their curative
rate and efficacy. It ensures that scientific and accurate drug and
treatment information is communicated to consumers or potential
consumers.

In the search for Health Insurance Services customers, we have
established and maintained cooperative relationships with local
governments riding on our trustworthy product and service quality,
coupled with our honest and reliable marketing and promotion.
So, our Hui Min Insurance products have been recognised by
local governments, and we can offer reliable comprehensive
health insurance services to our target customers.
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3.4 Information Security

114

With great importance attached to consumer privacy protection
and data security, the Group strictly complies with the relevant
laws and regulations such as the Personal Information Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Cyber security Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Data Security Law of
the People’s Republic of China. At the same time, it enhances
the ability to ensure data privacy and security through various
technical means and comprehensive data security measures.

We stick to the bottom line of data security and ensure consumer
privacy and data security throughout the process. Prior to the
initial collection of medical data from patients and plan members
of Specialty Pharmacy Business and Health Insurance Services
Business, we invite them to complete consent forms, application
forms or agreements to obtain their prior consent. Our data use
and privacy policy is available to each consumer through our
website and WeChat public account. The Group undertakes
to use data of patients and plan members in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations and to put in place a strict internal
control system to prevent the transfer of personal data to any third
party. In the process of storing and managing medical data of
patients and plan members, we isolate our internal database and
operating system from external services to ensure data security,
and also encrypt data transmissions using complex security
protocols to ensure confidentiality. In addition to strengthening
our internal technology and data infrastructure, we also engage a
third-party cybersecurity company to conduct regular penetration
tests to identify weaknesses in the system and assess its security
in a timely manner. We will take immediate steps to upgrade
the system once problems are identified in order to mitigate any
potential problems that may compromise the security of the
system.

In terms of data security publicity and prevention, we have
developed a detailed plan for operation and maintenance of
management, monitoring and warning mechanisms, data security
management and disaster recovery. The database can only be
accessed by authorised personnel after assessment and approval
procedures, whose actions will be recorded and monitored.
We provide data privacy training to authorised personnel to
continually enhance their data security awareness and skills, and
require them to report any information security vulnerability.
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3.5 Intellectual Property

The Group places a high value on intellectual property and
recognises that trademarks, copyrights, domain names,
technologies and databases are particularly critical to its success.
We strictly comply with the relevant laws and regulations,
including the Civil Code of the People’s Republic of China, the
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Patent Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and meet the requirements
regarding intellectual property rights in the Intellectual Property
Management Work and Process of Sipai, in a bid to ensure
that we protect our own intellectual property rights while fully
respecting the intellectual property rights of others.

We adopt and continuously optimise our internal work processes
and procedures related to intellectual property protection. We
require our employees to search for relevant intellectual property
and strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations. Moreover,
we file trademarks and copyrights with the relevant authorities
and periodically monitor third-party actions to strengthen our
intellectual property protection. We protect our technologies
by entering into confidentiality agreements with our business
partners, and incorporate the maintenance of physical security of
our premises and physical and electronic security of information
technology systems as part of intellectual property protection
measures.

OUR GOVERNANCE
Risk Internal Control and Compliance Management

The Group’s risk management and internal control policies and
procedures cover five aspects of business operations: service
quality and safety, product quality and safety, operational risk
management, human resources risk management, and regulatory
compliance and legal risk management, with a corresponding
risk management protection mechanism or measure in each
aspect. We keep improving our policies and procedures in
accordance with changes in policies and regulatory trends, the
industry market environment and our own business development
to reduce the impact of potential risks on our operations and
achieve steady and sound development through scientific and
rigorous risk management.
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Rk S RER®WE

Risk management

EEEELHE

Service quality and safety

Product quality and safety
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Operational risk management

BRIERRE B

Human resources risk management

ANEIRR R E 2

Regulatory compliance and

legal risk management

EEARMARRREIE

Risk protection mechanisms/measures

LS REEH ), 1E 1

I[dentifying risks that may arise in the operation of each of the three major business
segments (i.e. Specialty Pharmacy Business, Physician Research Assistance and
Health Insurance Services), and adopting and implementing various measures to
ensure the effective operation of the risk management procedures

RED BB =R EBRGE (RN B EE TS - BAM T 0B oA R RRE AR )
ELEER AR ENRRETRR KA BEEZ AR BREREIERE
FFEMEE

Controlling risks at all levels to ensure the quality and safety of products sold in
specialty pharmacies, covering strict selection of pharmaceutical manufacturers
and distributors, logistics and transportation, product inspection, warehousing, and
sales and delivery
FEHHFEEFHENEnEERT Y REBERER RO HEOERR
e YMnEh EnRR ARKEERNMERE  BELEZERR REE
mEERLZE

Developing internal procedures for management of financial-related risks arising
from inadequate or defective internal processes, employee errors, T system failures
or external events

HERMRENTTZRRE B TRR EEMRARKEIIMBEFER
B EA TS AR R - Il TE R RRAR A 1T R B IR

The human resources centre develops a code of conduct and conducts regular
training to address and manage possible human resources risks, aiming to tackle
bribery and corruption risks

YRR RE S AR ANERPORBEIEITRST
AL REBARHRHANERER

Al I F R E B Ay 77

Seeking effective compliance and legal risk management for all aspects of business
operations and employee activities, and establishing an internal accountability
system
HEEBELRETFHNZTETEAREEINERIEAZRRER B
BT R ERFE & I
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The Group formulated the Internal Audit Management Provisions
in accordance with its own operating conditions and development
goals to enhance the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems at the system level. Our risk management
process consists of three main steps, namely risk assessment,
risk analysis, and risk response. We follow this process to
continuously assess and update various risks in our operations,
which provides an important reference for internal audit planning
and risk management, and enhances our risk management
capabilities.

[ Bez A
Risk
assessment

JeR| e P
Risk
response

[\ & IR AR

Risk management process

4.2 Supply Chain Management

The Group strives to build an efficient and responsible supply
chain and continuously conveys the concept of sustainable
development to its suppliers to achieve win-win development. We
strictly enforce relevant laws and regulations, including the Bidding
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Regulation on the
Implementation of the Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of
China, to ensure compliance in procurement activities.

We have formulated the Store Supplier Information Creation and
Maintenance Process for the procurement related to our principal
businesses, i.e. medicines, devices and health food, in order to
promote efficient and fair supply chain management. A dedicated
team has been established to manage the quality of suppliers’
products, logistic, returns of goods and so forth, in order to
standardise the selection criteria for suppliers and identify and
reduce the environmental and social risks that may arise in the
procurement process.
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For the selection of suppliers, the Group conducts background
checks on suppliers from their qualifications, brands and reliability
before entering into any agreement, examines their business
licences and the relevant licences and certificates of the products
they provide, and investigates the market acceptance of their
products in the industry to ensure effective supplier selection
management. The Group regularly conducts comprehensive
assessments on suppliers that have entered the Group’s
management system, gives timely feedback on problems and
urges them to make improvements to their products and services.
Once the government authorities announce that suppliers
cooperating with the Group have violated laws and regulations,
the Group will immediately terminate their procurement and
supply relationship to ensure that the environmental and social
risks in the supply chain are minimised. During the Reporting
Period, all suppliers of the stores provided products or services in
accordance with the established systems and processes.

With regard to non-operating purchases, including but not limited
to administrative products, engineering products, equipment and
facilities, outsourcing services, professional services and human
resources services, the Group carries out purchases in strict
accordance with its internal systems and management processes.

The Group actively purchases low-carbon and environmentally-friendly
products, and gives priority to biodegradable and recyclable
plastic bags and cold chain insulated containers. Furthermore,
we periodically verify the quality of eco-friendly products or
services provided by our suppliers to promote their active use of
eco-friendly and green products and services.

Integrity Management

We operate our businesses in good faith and in compliance with
legal standards. We recognise that fraud, commercial bribery,
fraud and other misconduct may expose us to financial loss and
severe sanctions by government or regulatory authorities, and
seriously damage our reputation. So we are firmly opposed to
bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering and other unlawful
acts. The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations, including the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Interim Regulations on
Prohibition of Commercial Bribery, and designs and implements
strict internal procedures on anti-fraud and anti-commercial
bribery, so as to ensure that our business operations comply
with the relevant laws and rules. The Group was not implicated in
any concluded proceedings regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
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The internal audit and control department and the legal
department, led by senior management, has established internal
rules and measures against corrupt and fraudulent activities, in a
bid to effectively manage compliance and legal risks.

o The internal audit and control department, the legal
department and the management team of each business
line are responsible for the day-to-day implementation
of anti-bribery measures, reviewing and evaluating the
anti-bribery measures of each department, reviewing
complaints and reports from internal and external sources,
conducting investigations and implementing corrective
measures accordingly. The day-to-day implementation of
these measures and any specific events will be reported to
senior management on a regular basis.

o Employees are required to comply with the code of
professional ethics and the internal compliance manual, and
are prohibited from accepting gifts, hospitality and other
offers from interested third parties.

o An accountability system has been established for violations
of laws, regulations and internal policies by employees.

o Preventive anti-bribery measures are implemented in daily
operations. Different sales responsibilities are separated
where feasible and the sales process is monitored through
technical means.

° We communicate with all relevant stakeholders, including
customers and suppliers, in relation to our compliance
measures and code of professional ethics. With
anti-corruption and anti-bribery clauses in a majority of our
business contracts, we require our suppliers and other third
parties who cooperate with us to comply with relevant laws
and regulations.
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The Group provides specialised and regular training based on the
needs of employees in different departments and anti-bribery and
anti-corruption policies, in a bid to ensure that employees have
a thorough understanding of risk prevention measures and laws
and regulations concerning anti-bribery and anti-corruption, and
better comply with relevant internal policies and external laws
and regulations in their day-to-day work. The human resources
centre is responsible for organising regular in-house training
courses taught by senior employees or external consultants for
new recruits and in-service employees. The training courses
are offered online and in classrooms. In addition, the human
resources centre also follows up and reviews the training content
and the performance of employees participating in the courses to
evaluate the effectiveness of the training and to reward instructors
who receive positive feedback.

Moreover, we have developed an employee handbook and
code of conduct containing professional ethics, fraud prevention
mechanism, internal rules and guidance on negligence and
corruption, which have been distributed to all employees. We
also organise regular training and devote resources to explain the
contents of the manual and the code to our employees.

OUR EMPLOYEES

Employees are the cornerstone of business development. The
Group understands that only by building a team of passionate,
pro